School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science

Ecology of top fish predators, European catfish and asp, with consequences to fish communities

Ph.D. Thesis

Mgr. Marek Šmejkal

Supervisor: RNDr. Marie Prchalová, Ph.D. Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences Institute of Hydrobiology

České Budějovice 2017

This thesis should be cited as:

Šmejkal, M. (2017). Ecology of top fish predators, European catfish and asp, with consequences to fish communities. Ph.D. Thesis Series, No. 12. University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, School of Doctoral Studies in Biological Sciences, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 106 p.

Annotation:

The dissertation thesis focuses on predator ecology in artificial water bodies. **Paper** I deals with the importance of chemical cues for predator-prey interactions in an aquatic environment. Here, I demonstrate that the ability to detect chemical cues represents a survival benefit for prey species. **Paper II** points out gillnet methodological bias, which may have subsequent repercussions in field evaluation of a predator's presence and assessment of larger fish abundance in general. **Papers III** and IV focus on asp *Leuciscus aspius* spawning grounds. In **Paper III**, I demonstrate how males maximize their spawning chances by early arrival and in **Paper IV**, I evaluate the predation pressure of asp prey, *Alburnus alburnus*, directed on asp eggs.

Declaration [in Czech]

Prohlašuji, že svoji disertační práci jsem vypracoval samostatně pouze s použitím pramenů a literatury uvedených v seznamu citované literatury.

Prohlašuji, že v souladu s § 47b zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. v platném znění souhlasím se zveřejněním své disertační práce, a to v úpravě vzniklé vypuštěním vyznačených částí archivovaných Přírodovědeckou fakultou elektronickou cestou ve veřejně přístupné části databáze STAG provozované Jihočeskou univerzitou v Českých Budějovicích na jejích internetových stránkách, a to se zachováním mého autorského práva k odevzdanému textu této kvalifikační práce. Souhlasím dále s tím, aby toutéž elektronickou cestou byly v souladu s uvedeným ustanovením zákona č. 111/1998 Sb. zveřejněny posudky školitele a oponentů práce i záznam o průběhu a výsledku obhajoby kvalifikační práce. Rovněž souhlasím s porovnáním textu mé kvalifikační práce s databází kvalifikačních prací Theses.cz provozovanou Národním registrem vysokoškolských kvalifikačních prací a systémem na odhalování plagiátů.

České Budějovice, 2017

Marek Šmejkal

This thesis originated from a partnership of Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, and Institute of Hydrobiology, Biology Centre of the AS CR, v.v.i., supporting doctoral studies in the Hydrobiology



Financial support

Biology Centre of the AS CR, v.v.i. - RVO: 600 77 344

Czech Science Foundation - GPP505/12/P647

Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia - 145/2013/D

Norwegian Financial Mechanism 2009-2014 - MSMT-28477/2014 (project number 7F14316)

CEKOPOT project - CZ.1.07/2.3.00/20.0204

Diversity of Life and Health of Ecosystems - "Strategy AV21" (project number 580310/992200)

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank my supervisor Mája for introducing me to scientific thinking and writing. It must have been tough, even painful, when correcting my early texts throughout my bachelor's and master's studies. I would also like to express my gratitude to Jirka, head of the Fish Ecology Unit, for his openness and generous support of my research. When I came (quite often) with new ideas of what I might try to investigate, he patiently supported them and some of them eventually led to desired results. Special thanks goes to Honza, who founded the Fish Ecology Unit and has kept it together for many years. Thanks to his enthusiasm for methodology, we can now perform very diverse studies, for there is essentially no method that we do not have the equipment for. Furthermore, I would like to thank Christer, Anders, Kaj and Jerker for the great time and very inspiring scientific environment at Lund University. Great thanks also go to Mojmír, Tomáš, Míla, Mejla, Vláďa, Martin, Jarka and Michal; it is a real pleasure to work with all of them. I would also like to thank my co-studying colleagues, who made huge contributions to my field work as well as to my after-work social life. Petr, Vejřa, Ivča, Roman, Zuzana, Míša, Ievgen, Dan, Kuba, Son and Mazuš...thanks! Apart from the great support in data processing, I own Daniel R., Vilém and Allan enormous thanks for their vivid humour both during in and after work activities. Last but not least, I would like to thank Mr. Prachař for patiently fulfilling the sometimes unrealistic ideas of scientists, Katka for her never-ending desire to determine fish age and Luboš for his extreme hard work and enormous help during the passive telemetry studies. Finally, I would like to thank my mum for her constant support of my enthusiasm for nature, for I would never be working with fish otherwise.

List of papers and author's contribution

 Šmejkal, M., Ricard, D., Sajdlová, Z., Mrkvička, T., Čech, M., Vejřík, L., Blabolil, P., Vejříková, I., Prchalová, M., Vašek, M., Souza, A.T., Brönmark, C., Peterka, J. (in prep.). Can speciesspecific responses to chemical cues explain prey susceptibility to predation?

I designed and conducted the laboratory experiments and participated in field sampling, statistically analyzed the data and prepared the manuscript with the help of co-authors.

II. Šmejkal, M., Ricard, D., Prchalová, M., Říha, M., Muška, M., Blabolil, P., Čech, M., Vašek, M., Jůza, T., Monteoliva Herreras, A., Encina, L., Peterka, J., Kubečka, J., (2015). Biomass and Abundance Biases in European Standard Gillnet Sampling. PLoS ONE 10(3): e0122437.
Impact factor (2015): 3.057. *I participated in field sampling, statistically analyzed the data and prepared the manuscript with the help of co-authors.*

- III. Šmejkal, M., Ricard, D., Vejřík, L., Mrkvička, T., Vebrová, L., Baran, R., Sajdlová, Z., Vejříková, I., Prchalová, M., Kubečka, J. (2017a). Seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish. Scientific Reports 7, 4737. Impact factor (2016/2017): 4.259. *I designed the field sampling, statistically analyzed the data and prepared the manuscript with the help of co-authors.*
- IV. Šmejkal, M., Baran, R., Blabolil, P., Vejřík, L., Prchalová, M., Bartoň, D., Mrkvička, T., Kubečka, J. (2017b). Early life-history predator-prey reversal in two cyprinid fishes. Scientific Reports 7, 6924.
 Impact factor (2016/2017): 4.259.

I designed the field sampling, statistically analyzed the data and prepared the manuscript with the help of co-authors.

Declaration of originality

The co-authors fully acknowledge that Marek Šmejkal is the first author of all papers presented. Most of the data processing as well as most of the statistical analyses were performed by Marek Šmejkal. He also made a major contribution to writing the manuscripts. All papers contain original results. All co-authors consent to the publication of the papers in the dissertation of Marek Šmejkal and two authors hereby support this statement with their signature.

RNDr. Jiří Peterka, Ph.D.

Prof. Jan Kubečka, Ph.D.

Contents

Introduction	1
How I came to study these topics	1
The role of chemical cues in aquatic environments	3
Gillnet methodology and the importance of unbiased sampling: what currently missing?	are we 4
The pros and cons of being a male: seasonal and daily protandr cyprinid fish	yina 5
Predator-prey role reversal in asp spawning ground	7
Aims of the thesis	9
Results and general discussion	11
Implications for management of water-supply reservoirs	11
Sound science rises from sound methodology	13
Reproductive allocation of males and females: when is protandry fave the animal kingdom?	ored in 14
Conclusions	15
Future research prospects	16
References	18
Research articles	26
Paper I	27
Paper II	63
Paper III	81
Paper IV	93
Curriculum vitae	03

Introduction

How I came to study these topics

My bachelor's and master's studies focused on the association of fish with littoral habitats in reservoirs (Šmejkal *et al.* 2014). While I succeeded in describing patterns of fish littoral habitat association in my master's thesis, I was missing the causal consequences driving fish to distribute themselves in that pattern, for it is often difficult to discriminate among major drivers such as temperature, food availability and predation avoidance in large-scale field studies (Garner *et al.* 1998; Metcalfe *et al.* 1999; Brönmark *et al.* 2008). Hence, I decided to combine field descriptive data with an experimental setup that could explain the patterns found in our observations.

One of the major advantages of studying fish is that it is feasible to set up aquarium experiments. This allows us to manipulate the factors under study and to make stronger inferences regarding the causal chain of events (Ahnesjö et al. 2008). In the littoral habitat association study, the fish with morphological defences (perch *Perca fluviatilis*, ruffe *Gymnocephalus cernua*) were more inclined to share their habitat with their predators (pike *Esox lucius* and asp *Leuciscus aspius*) compared to fish species lacking these defences (roach *Rutilus rutilus*, bream *Abramis brama*) (Šmejkal *et al.* 2014). Species relying on their defences may afford to be closer to their natural enemies and be less alert in general (Abrahams 1995; Andraso & Barron 1995). However, how can those more vulnerable species actually avoid encounters with predators in an environment with such restricted visual range? The answer may be provided by the concept of chemical cues, which I attempted to test in my subsequent work.

The role of chemical cues has been emphasized since the discovery of the alarm cue - Schreckstoff in 1938 by Karl Ritter von Frisch (Frisch 1938) - and it is currently believed to be one of the major drivers of fish behavioural decisions (Ferrari *et al.* 2010; Stensmyr & Maderspacher 2012). Whether the species that has a lower ability to detect chemical cues also has a higher susceptibility to predation, was to my knowledge at that time an unanswered question. In **paper I**, I performed experiments with three prey species (perch, roach and rudd *Scardinius erythrophthalmus*) to observe their response to dietary cues. As a model predator, I chose the European catfish *Silurus glanis* for two reasons. Firstly, we had performed a manipulative study

where catfish were introduced into a lake and apparently changed the community structure of the tested prey species. Secondly, catfish forage in low-light and turbid conditions, hence it may be advantageous for prey species to detect predators in such environment with limited visual range (Bruton 1996; Hartman & Abrahams 2000).

Fish community data collected for my master thesis and Paper I came from standard gillnet sampling. The standardized series of mesh sizes covers almost all size groups of commonly catchable fish species (Prchalová et al. 2009b). However, larger individuals of big species are usually missing (especially in the case of catfish, which was otherwise very abundant in the lakes sampled for **Paper I**). The interpretation of biased data is not an easy task, given the fact that the estimate of the largest fish has the lowest reliability due to the scarceness of any catch. European fish community studies frequently rely on the gillnet sampling standard (CEN 2005; Argillier et al. 2012; Blabolil et al. 2016; Poikane et al. 2017), and often do not consider the catch bias as important when interpreting results based on the European gillnet standard (Mehner 2010). To identify the imperfection of the European gillnet standard, we analyzed data from large-mesh gillnet samples, which provided evidence of the presence of large fish missed by the European gillnet standard, and identified potential biases in the European sampling design (Paper II).

The third study included in my thesis focuses on asp, a large predatory fish in European waters, and targets particularly the sex differences in the occupation of the spawning ground between males and females. Variance in reproductive success within a sex may generate sexual selection. When some individuals are more successful than others in competition for mates, and this success depends on the expression of a specific trait, this trait is under sexual selection (Ahnesjö *et al.* 2008). In this particular case, I investigated a species that has no parental care, forms no permanent pairs and the spawning within a population is polygynandrous, i.e. males may acquire multiple females and females may acquire multiple males in one spawning season. Here, the characteristic studied and subjected to sexual selection is the arrival strategy, since early arriving males may have the possibility to mate with more females than late arriving males (Canal *et al.* 2012; Morbey *et al.* 2012). In the example of the asp mating system in **Paper III**, I demonstrated how males precede females in their arrival and leave the spawning ground

later than females to maximize their spawning success on both a seasonal and a daily basis.

In **Paper IV**, I evaluate the impact of bleak *Alburnus alburnus* that prey on asp eggs in the fluvial spawning ground, which was used as a model environment in a previous paper. During our field study in 2014 related to **Paper III**, we observed that the most common prey fish of asp, bleak, occurs in large numbers at the spawning ground and potentially feeds on asp eggs. This may represent a good example of predator-prey role reversal; hence I decided to investigate this topic further using gut content analysis and underwater cameras installed on the asp spawning ground and evaluate the potential impact on asp eggs.

The role of chemical cues in aquatic environments

Limited visual detection range has shaped the sensory evolution of aquatic organisms (Sorensen & Wisenden 2015). In many instances, the visual ability to detect danger or a mate is restricted by the environmental conditions (e.g. turbidity, dense macrophytes coverage, caves and crevices). Hence, fish adapted through their life history the ability to communicate by non-visual senses, and probably the most important is chemosensory communication (Ferrari *et al.* 2010). Species-wide and species-specific chemicals enable fish to communicate between individuals, and during the spawning period provide precise information about males' and females' readiness to spawn (Dulka *et al.* 1987; Sorensen *et al.* 1988; Sorensen & Wisenden 2015).

The most investigated category of chemical communication are alarm and diet cues. Various fish species possess the ability to produce and perceive chemicals that warn them about oncoming danger (Brown *et al.* 1995; Ferrari *et al.* 2010). Their skin contains alarm substances, or alarm cues, which are released into the water when a fish is injured by predator. If a shoal of fish encounters a space activated with alarm cues, behavioural changes proportional to the danger are expressed by the fish (Mathis & Smith 1993; Brown *et al.* 2004). Furthermore, when the predator digests its prey, diet cues exude from the predator's skin, gills or faeces and these are also perceived by many fish species and reacted upon (Brown *et al.* 1996; Harvey & Brown 2004). Both mechanisms of danger identification may enhance the

survival ability of individuals, for they provide an informational advantage over their natural enemy.

The predator-prey relationship is an arms-race, and in this particular one, the predator has found a counter-response to chemical cues. For instance, a pike that has ingested prey containing an alarm substance defecates outside its foraging territory, therefore minimizing labelling its major hunting spot. However, when a pike digests prey without any alarm substances, no such behavior is observed (Brown, Grant *et al.* 1995; Brown *et al.* 1996). Although pike cannot conceal diet cues altogether, this behavior seems to decrease the distance in which its prey finds its foraging territory dangerous.

Despite the enormous body of evidence about chemical cues from the laboratory, there was a general lack of field studies providing a link between chemical cue perception and survival. By combining laboratory and field data, Paper II provides indirect field evidence that the perception of chemical cues may improve the survival chances for a species.

Gillnet methodology and the importance of unbiased sampling: what are we currently missing?

Unbiased fish sampling is a difficult task for the scientific community, yet it is necessary for a sound interpretation of data in ecology. To reveal the true species composition, abundance and biomass in a lake or reservoir, it is crucial to sample all relevant habitats (Prchalová *et al.* 2009a; Blabolil *et al.* 2017). While the goal may seem relatively easy to achieve, each species has a different catchability for the given sampling gear, which makes the estimate ultimately biased (Hamley 1975). Furthermore, only gillnets can feasibly be deployed in every lacustrine habitat (with the exception of habitats with dense macrophyte cover). Other gear such as trawls, electrofishing and beach seining, which would otherwise be more suitable due to their absolute catch per unit effort, have limited usage in deep water or in structured habitats (Prchalová *et al.* 2009b; Říha *et al.* 2012, 2015).

However, the proportion of a given species in the catch is not only related to the actual abundance, but also reflects fish activity, shape and body protrusions that make the catch more likely (Hamley 1975; Kurkilahti *et al.* 2002). Hence, fish have to be active, of the right shape and size to be successfully caught in gillnets in high numbers. When these criteria are not met, inactive fish or fish with an elongated shape and good locomotion

abilities are likely to be underestimated or missing in the catch compared to spiny and active fish (Prchalová *et al.* 2010). This extreme bias is demonstrated by the European eel *Anguilla anguilla* that does not entangle in gillnets due to its smooth elongated body, together with its locomotion abilities so that another sampling method is additionally required to characterize the eel population in a given water body, or a characteristically entangled gillnet may be counted as a sign of eel presence (Prchalová *et al.* 2013). Despite the obvious flaws of this gear, gillnets are an essential part of community sampling, since they are relatively easily deployed into all lacustrine habitats and standard monitoring can be performed continental-wide in various water body types (Argillier *et al.* 2012).

Fish become entangled in gillnets by their teeth, gills or the deepest part of their body (Hamley 1975; Kurkilahti et al. 2002). Therefore, each mesh size has an optimum fish size and on both sizes of the axis the probability of catch decreases. Even though for some fish species this curve has a lognormal distribution, meaning that fish larger than optimum can still be caught with some likelihood, scientists should aim to cover the whole fish size spectrum by implementing appropriate mesh sizes (Hamley & Regier 1973). In order to do so, the European standard was developed with 12 mesh sizes in a geometric series with a ratio of 1.25 and a mesh size range from 5 to 55 mm (Appelberg et al. 1995; CEN 2005). The question remains whether the decision to terminate the geometric mesh size series at 55 mm was appropriate in European waters, given some large fish predators such as European catfish inhabit these waters (Kottelat & Freyhof 2007). We address that question in **Paper II**, where we demonstrate that the European standard underestimates very common large fish and the geometric series should be extended to achieve a better sampling design of the fish size spectrum.

The pros and cons of being a male: seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish

The sex with higher variability in reproductive success is generally under stronger selective pressure; hence this sex has to adapt to maximize their mating chances (Ahnesjö *et al.* 2008). In species where the females invest more into reproduction (sum of pre- and post-reproductive expenses), it is the males who have to maximize their effort (Jonsson *et al.* 1991; Olsson & Madsen 1996). Just by virtue of encounter probability, an earlier approach to

mating grounds before females should provide more mating chances (Morbey 2000; Morbey & Ydenberg 2001). This phenomenon known as protandry occurs in many species across the animal kingdom. Several hypotheses explain this phenomenon, I will here restrict the list to the two most likely in the studied system of asp. The mate opportunity hypothesis states that just by virtue of higher probability of female encounter, it is advantageous to arrive on the mating site earlier than females (Morbey 2002). The rank advantage hypothesis claims that an early arrival is advantageous primarily for early males who can occupy and defend highquality territories, which in turn brings an advantage to the owner due to easy access to multiple females in lek systems (a place where males gather during the reproductive season and compete to attract females; Morbey et al. 2012; Apollonio et al. 2014). The advantage of early arrival is especially apparent in non-territorial polygynandrous fish species, where the male's reproductive success depends solely on the number and quality of fertilized eggs (Sorensen & Wisenden 2015).

While early arrival may have several positive consequences for reproductive success, it may not be altogether beneficial for the individual male. The majority of species usually reproduce in the period that precedes the richest part of the year, so that their offspring are born into the most productive season. Therefore, early arrival is oftentimes accompanied with harsh environmental conditions and the early arriving sex may, as a consequence, suffer from excessive mortality (Møller 1994; Olsson & Madsen 1996). On the other hand, an early arriving male has to be in good condition, and hence the degree of his protandry may thus represent an honest signal of his qualities.

While protandry on a seasonal basis has been observed in the past for various animal groups (Gerhardt 1991; Olsson & Madsen 1996; Alcock 1997; Morbey 2000; Kokko *et al.* 2006), daily earlier arrival of males on the breeding ground has not been observed for a vertebrate species. The only study which describes this phenomenon is that of Dawson's burrowing bees, where males are active early in the day and search for later emerging females (Alcock 1997). However, in systems where individuals migrate for a certain amount of time away from the mating site and hence the mating site is recreated each day, there is the potential for daily occurrence of protandry.

Predator-prey role reversal in asp spawning ground

Although predator-prey relationships are mostly displayed simply as a situation where a predator enhances its own fitness at the prey's expense, there are situations where this relationship may be easily reversed. For instance, many predatory vertebrate ectotherms have a small initial size that could easily become prey for invertebrates and vertebrate omnivores (Bailey & Houde 1989; Deblois & Leggett 1991). Despite the short-term availability of small sized predators and their eggs, their prey may utilize them to an enormous extent due to their numerical advantage (Levine 1981). Moreover, since eggs are an important rich food source, they may in the short-term be preferred over the ordinary food source of the prey (Fuiman *et al.* 2015).

In comparison with the classical predator-prey relationship, in this shortterm reversal the prey does not rely on the small-sized predator food source for the whole growth period, and hence the population may grow on prevalent food well above the carrying capacity of the small-sized predator food source (Power 1992). Hence, eggs and small-sized predators can be subjected to considerable feeding pressure (Ellis & Nash 1997; Fox *et al.* 2012). This can lead to destabilization of predator-prey dynamics or keep the predator population at low levels (Levine 1981; Leggett & Deblois 1994; Köster & Möllmann 2000).

Aims of the thesis

The Ph.D. thesis addresses the behavioral and methodological aspects of catfish and asp ecology. The first section compares the species-specific ability to detect chemical cues and the actual survival and community development in a lake experiment before and after catfish stocking (**Paper I**). The second section evaluates the bias of gillnet sampling design for large fish species. This study should highlight the importance of extending the European standard in order to quantify correctly the relative abundance of predators such as adult asp and catfish (**Paper II**). The third section (**Paper III** and **IV**) addresses two aspects of asp reproduction occurring in early spring in fast flowing rivers. **Paper III** focuses on how males and females time their arrival on and departure from the spawning ground. **Paper IV** evaluates the mortality of asp eggs foraged upon by bleak, a small cyprinid species that is a major prey species for adult asp.

Paper I

Aims to: (i) investigate the species-specific ability of prey to detect the chemical cues of a catfish by olfaction by examining subsequent behavioral changes (activity, shoal cohesion and use of refuge) for three common prey species, perch, roach and rudd, (ii) evaluate the prey preferences of catfish when exposed to the same three prey species in an experimental laboratory setting and (iii) analyze gillnet sampling data obtained from a manipulative field study conducted in Milada Lake, Czech Republic, before and after catfish stocking.

Paper II

Aims to: (i) estimate the threshold fish size above which the European Standard gillnet is ineffective for estimating fish community biomass and abundance using selectivity curves approach, (ii) compare the fish community biomass spectrum obtained by European Standard gillnet to that obtained by trawl, purse seine and large mesh gillnet, (iii) identify species for which the large mesh gillnet sampling is essential, and (iv) analyze the sampling bias of European Standard gillnet.

Paper III

Aims to determine: (i) whether males exhibit protandry in their seasonal and daily migration, (ii) whether males also leave later (both on a daily and seasonal basis) than females, (iii) whether males time their daily length of stay to the number of females present and (iv) whether the degree of daily protandry correlates with the daily operational sex ratio.

Paper IV

Aims to: (i) analyze whether and to what extent predator-prey role reversal occurs in the asp-bleak relationship by stomach content analysis, (ii) analyze whether egg consumption is dependent on bleak size, (iii) establish the relative effectiveness of egg consumption using underwater cameras and (iv) model the relationship between egg survival probability and the batch size of drifting eggs using underwater camera data.

Results and general discussion

Implications for management of water-supply reservoirs

In **Paper I**, the experimental evaluation of the species-specific reactions to the threat of catfish predation revealed that both roach and rudd changed their behavior under the threat of predation, although rudd unexpectedly chose to be more exposed to predation. However, we detected no behavioral reaction in perch. Furthermore, we demonstrated the negative impact of catfish targeting older age classes of rudd and perch in the experimental lake, while none of this was observed in the control lake, where only pike predator treatment was applied. Further, the analysis of roach and perch survival from the experimental lake showed higher roach survival probabilities in two out of three age classes. We propose that species-specific catfish detection and avoidance abilities may explain the decline in large rudd and perch in the experimental lake after predator stocking.

In many man-made water bodies serving as drinking water storages, effective top-down control of prey fish species is crucial for keeping the water free of excessive algae blooms. In the conditions of the Czech Republic, water management should be aimed to keep the water body in salmonid or perch phase, where the fish composition does not fully utilize zooplankton pelagic food sources due to inefficient feeding compared to filter-feeding cyprinids (Ríha et al. 2009; Peterka & Matěna 2011) and as adults, these species becomes predators and regulate the population size of many species (Persson et al. 2003; Kottelat & Freyhof 2007). Prevalence of zooplankton-feeders such as roach, bream and bleak usually results in more turbid waters, which further influence the predator-prey relationship and predator foraging efficiency (Abrahams & Kattenfeld 1997; Shoup & Wahl 2009). The process of eutrophication influences piscivore-prey interactions: at least in some cases prey is the one who benefits. Pike was described as suffering from an increase in turbidity: the higher the turbidity the lower the pike reaction distance to roach and its foraging efficiency was (Ranåker et al. 2012). Evidence on the community level also indicates that high fish biomass and abundance are causing lower visibility due to a decrease of zooplankton size and its filter-feeding efficiency (Brooks & Dodson 1965) and these waters have a lower percentage of piscivores (Olin *et al.* 2002; Říha *et al.* 2009).

European perch – the preferred dominant of drinking water storages - is also known to be negatively affected by reduced visibility, since perch as a visually oriented predator becomes a poor competitor to cyprinids, whose more universal foraging tactics (gulping) are, under these conditions, better than particulate feeding of perch (Persson 1986; Osse *et al.* 1997).

Paper I demonstrates that stocking of catfish into a perch-dominated lake actually supported perch removal and its substitution by roach. Hence, although catfish is commonly stocked into water bodies built for drinking water purposes, it may actually selectively remove perch from the system and indirectly support cyprinid dominance. Once cyprinid dominance is established, visibility is impaired by their filter-feeding habits and may cause a decrease in perch and pike foraging efficiency (Ranåker *et al.* 2012). While these conclusions may be preliminary and more should be done on interspecies detection abilities of chemical cues and their implications in the natural environment, this study suggests that the biomanipulation technique of predator's population enhancement is not a straightforward issue and should be done with caution.

Paper IV targets a different situation in the predator-prey relationship in an aquatic environment between asp (predator) and bleak (prey). Gut content analysis demonstrated that asp eggs were utilized in high quantities by bleak, especially in the spawning peak of the asp reproductive season. Furthermore, using underwater video, I recorded the bleak feeding efficiency on naturally drifting asp eggs as the percentage of eggs eaten. Within the 40 cm egg trajectory captured by our cameras, total egg mortality was 21.2 ± 2.2 % on average. The highest survival chances occurred among eggs drifting in aggregations, since the short drifting distance together with their aggregated distribution satiated bleak and part of the egg aggregation could attach to the spawning ground.

The studied Želivka Reservoir already has a well-established cyprinid dominance (mostly consisting of plankton-feeders) in the system, and one of the prey-regulating predators in this system is also a cyprinid – asp (Prchalová *et al.* 2008b). Because this predator spawns on a fluvial spawning ground, its whole spawning stock migrates from the reservoir into a very

small spatially delimited space and the whole asp reproductive allocation is deposited here (**Paper III**). An asp major prey species during the growth season and one of the dominants in the cyprinid-dominated waters - bleak (Prchalová *et al.* 2009a; Specziár & Rezsu 2009; Krpo-Ćetković *et al.* 2010), utilizes the eggs of their main predator during the spawning period with high efficiency. The demonstration that asp egg mortality is substantial due to effective bleak feeding is not only interesting because of the predator-prey reversal occurring in the system, but also because asp are available to bleak only for tens of seconds during the drifting phase (Šmejkal *et al.* 2017). Bleak do not utilize benthic food sources, nor was any found in their stomach content in analyses connected to this paper, and hence the substantial eggfeeding pressure occurs in a very short time of egg drift after fertilization in the water column.

Sound science rises from sound methodology

The obstacles rising from sampling of an aquatic environment result oftentimes in the usage of methods that do not fully comprehend the studied group of organisms. Especially in the case of fish, which are actively moving and avoiding the sampling gear, the correct usage of gear can dramatically improve information about the system (Kubečka et al. 2009). For their versatile usage, gillnets are the most widespread sampling gear in European inland waters, despite their considerable selectivity (Hamley & Regier 1973; Prchalová et al. 2008a). Small fish (< 80 mm) were reported to be underrepresented in European Standard gillnets (CEN 2005; Prchalová et al. 2009b; Olin et al. 2009). In Paper II, we demonstrate that large fish are also underestimated by European Standard gillnets. Specifically, in the case of bream, 70 % of its biomass may be allocated to individuals larger than 292 mm of standard length in some reservoirs, which is the threshold of low catchability for the largest mesh size in European Standard gillnets. In other words, the European Standard would here provide a more or less accurate estimate of a 30 % subset of the bream population, while the remaining 70 % of biomass is severely underestimated. Based on these results, we propose to implement large mesh gillnets, which simply extend the current standard by four additional mesh sizes keeping the 1.25 mesh geometric series (Appelberg et al. 1995; Kurkilahti & Rask 1996). Large mesh gillnets are set along with European Standard gillnets and as supplementation to improve

the precision of the large fish estimate and to provide a better baseline for interpretation of large fish data, especially in the case of large inland predators such as European catfish, for which the current standard is barely representative.

Reproductive allocation of males and females: when is protandry favored in the animal kingdom?

Paper III demonstrated that asp males arrived at the spawning ground on average approximately five days earlier than females and left four to five days later than females over two years. Both sexes performed a daily migration between a staging ground (standing water, low energy costs) and the fluvial spawning ground (high energy costs). The evening peak of an abundance of males occurred on average 1 hour 40 minutes earlier than that of females. The number of females on the spawning ground never exceeded the number of males. While the degree of protandry is hypothesized to be influenced by the operational sex ratio (ranging from 0.5 to 1 in our study), our data did not support this theory.

Earlier male arrival on the reproductive grounds compared to females seems to be a widespread phenomenon among animal taxa. A similar trend may be found among insects (Alcock 1997), fish (Morbey 2000), amphibians (Gerhardt 1991), reptiles (Wikelski *et al.* 1996), birds (Canal *et al.* 2012) and mammals (Apollonio *et al.* 2014). Protandry may be perceived as a higher investment of males in mate-finding and territory defending activities compared to females (Morbey *et al.* 2012). The male activity may be so high that they fully compensate for the female's higher energy allocations into egg development, resulting in a situation where total reproductive effort is equal or higher in males at the end of the reproductive season (Jonsson *et al.* 1991). However, not all reproductive systems favor higher male mate-finding investments, and in these systems sex-role reversal may occur (Svensson 1988; Wootton & Smith 2014).

In animal taxa where males have higher reproductive allocations due to costly parental care or where males provide females a large nuptial gift, it is the female who searches for a male and has higher activity investments into reproduction (Gwynne 1981; Clutton-Brock & Vincent 1991). In these sexrole reversal situations, females may precede males in their arrival, if such a species aggregates for reproduction or may simply start their mate-finding activity earlier than males.

Furthermore, mate-finding investments are dependent upon differences in potential reproductive rate between males and females (Clutton-Brock & Vincent 1991; Garant *et al.* 2001; Forsgren *et al.* 2004). Due to the lower number of eggs compared to sperm production of males, it is usually the females who are limited in their potential reproductive rate. However, in species where males exhibit parental care for a prolonged period of time while females continue to reproduce, males are the more limited sex and are competed for by females (Ahnesjö *et al.* 2008).

The operational sex ratio may also contribute to the degree of matefinding activity in a given sex. For instance, if the males become scarce in the environment, females that used to be courted by males start to actively find their mates (Forsgren et al. 2004). It is expected that the degree of protandry should also be dependent on the operational sex ratio in a given population and that males should arrive earlier on a given day when the operational sex ratio is male biased (Kokko et al. 2006). In Paper III, I studied this hypothesis based on the daily data of protandry. The analysis compares the difference between average male and female arrival time with the daily sex ratio on the spawning ground. While I did not find supporting evidence for this hypothesis, I do not completely reject it. The main reason is that the data points of daily protandry from days where the sex ratio is extremely male-biased are naturally impaired with very low female attendance. Therefore, the estimate of average female arrival is very sensitive to a few individuals, while the male estimate is made of tens of male arrivals and presumably more precise. I believe more should be done in future to test this hypothesis, because the operational sex-ratio should be one of the major drivers for mating behavioral decisions (Kvarnemo & Ahnesjö 1996; Weir et al. 2011; Székely et al. 2014).

Conclusions

To conclude, **Paper I** demonstrates the adaptive value of chemical cue perception in predator-prey relationships. The finding may have further impact on community ecology, and it provides an example that biomanipulation should be performed with caution. **Paper II** raises the question of correct usage of methodology and provides complementary methodology to obtain a less biased picture of large fish. **Paper III** demonstrates seasonal and daily aspects of protandry in a model species, the cyprinid predator asp. **Paper IV** brings evidence of strong early life-history predator-prey reversal between asp and bleak. Further, the possible impact of bleak high feeding efficiency is discussed.

Future research prospects

- I) **Paper I** and **II** uses gillnet methodology, but in both instances the gillnet catch has to be treated with caution. Although gillnets simply cannot provide a reliable absolute estimate of a fish community due to their passive nature, more can be done in selectivity research, for instance the relationship between water temperature and gillnet catchability and selectivity has not been fully described. Currently gillnets are deployed in variously deep habitats, which are naturally linked with varying temperature. In the summer season, the difference between 0 - 3 m deep habitat and > 20 m habitat can easily reach 15 °C, and hence described abundance and biomass gradients may be partly the result of decreasing fish activity with temperature (Prchalová et al. 2009a). While it is likely not completely the case, since acoustic surveys provide similar results (Jůza et al. 2012), it would still be worth investigating how the catchability changes along the temperature gradient.
- II) Paper III demonstrates how males precede females in their arrival on the spawning ground in order to maximize their mating efforts. It might be worth investigating whether their arrival is dependent on their age: do experienced males time their arrival better then inexperienced ones? And is it dependent also on male length? Just to clarify, some asp cease to grow after maturation in the studied system, hence there is no direct link between length and age (Šmejkal *et al.* 2016). Further questions arise from the system itself. Since asp seems not to form pairs for more than a single spawning event and seems not to be territorial, the protandry is likely driven by the mate opportunity hypothesis

(maximizing number of encountered females). Considering that males arrive on average five days before females and spend on the spawning ground an average of ten days, the mate finding effort is quite large. It would be worth looking at the advantage of early-spawned eggs and early-born asp - do they have survival advantage over individuals born later in the season?

III) Paper IV demonstrates the bleak efficiency of asp egg utilization in the monitored tributary of Želivka Reservoir. Further, it would be interesting to estimate the overall number of bleak individuals migrating into the tributary and their consumption potential at a given temperature. Also, the movement of bleak between the tributary and reservoir has not been investigated yet. Does it follow the spawning movement of asp or do bleak stay in the tributary permanently?

References

- Abrahams, M. & Kattenfeld, M. (1997) The role of turbidity as a constraint on predator-prey interactions in aquatic environments. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **40**, 169–174.
- Abrahams, M. V (1995) The interaction between antipredator behaviour and antipredator morphology: experiments with fathead minnows and brook sticklebacks. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **73**, 2209–2215.
- Ahnesjö, I., Forsgren, E. & Kvarnemo, C. (2008) Variation in sexual selection in fishes. In: *Fish behaviour*. pp 303–336.
- Alcock, J. (1997) Small males emerge earlier than large males in Dawson's burrowing bee (*Amegilla dawsoni*) (Hymenoptera: Anthophorini). *Journal of Zoology* 242, 453–462.
- Andraso, G.M. & Barron, J.N. (1995) Evidence for a trade-off between defensive morphology and startle-response performance in the brook stickleback (*Culaea inconstans*). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 73, 1147–1153.
- Apollonio, M., De Cena, F., Bongi, P. & Ciuti, S. (2014) Female preference and predation risk models can explain the maintenance of a fallow deer (*Dama dama*) lek and its "handy" location. *PLoS ONE* **9**.
- Appelberg, M., Berger, H.-M., Hesthagen, T., Kleiven, E., Kurkilahti, M., Raitaniemi, J. & Rask, M. (1995) Development and intercalibration of methods in nordic freshwater fish monitoring. *Water, Air, & Soil Pollution* 85, 401–406.
- Argillier, C., Caussé, S., Gevrey, M., Pédron, S., Bortoli, J., Brucet, S., Emmrich, M., Jeppesen, E., Lauridsen, T., Mehner, T., Olin, M., Rask, M., Volta, P., Winfield, I.J., Kelly, F., Krause, T., Palm, a. & Holmgren, K. (2012) Development of a fish-based index to assess the eutrophication status of European lakes. *Hydrobiologia* **704**, 193–211.
- Bailey, K.M. & Houde, E.D. (1989) Predation on eggs and larvae of marine fishes and the recruitment problem. *Advances in Marine Biology* 25, 1– 83.
- Blabolil, P., Boukal, D.S., Ricard, D., Kubečka, J., Říha, M., Vašek, M., Prchalová, M., Čech, M., Frouzová, J., Jůza, T., Muška, M., Tušer, M., Draštík, V., Šmejkal, M., Vejřík, L. & Peterka, J. (2017) Optimal gillnet sampling design for the estimation of fish community indicators in heterogeneous freshwater ecosystems. *Ecological Indicators* **77**, 368–

376.

- Blabolil, P., Logez, M., Ricard, D., Prchalová, M., Říha, M., Sagouis, A., Peterka, J., Kubečka, J. & Argillier, C. (2016) An assessment of the ecological potential of Central and Western European reservoirs based on fish communities. *Fisheries Research* **173**, 80–87.
- Brönmark, C., Skov, C., Brodersen, J., Nilsson, P.A. & Hansson, L.-A. (2008) Seasonal migration determined by a trade-off between predator avoidance and growth. *PloS one* 3, e1957.
- Brooks, J.L. & Dodson, S.I. (1965) Predation, Body Size, and Composition of Plankton. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **150**, 28–35.
- Brown, Grant, E., Chivers, Douglas, P. & Smith, R.J. (1995) Localized defecation by pike: A response to labelling by cyprinid alarm pheromone? *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **36**, 105–110.
- Brown, G.E., Chivers, D.P. & Smith, R.J. (1995) Fathead minnows avoid conspecific and heterospecific alarm pheromones in the faeces of northern pike. *Journal of Fish Biology* **47**, 387–393.
- Brown, G.E., Chivers, D.P. & Smith, R.J.F. (1996) Effects of diet on localized defecation by Northern pike, *Esox lucius*. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 22, 467–475.
- Brown, G.E., Poirier, J.F. & Adrian, J.C. (2004) Assessment of local predation risk: The role of subthreshold concentrations of chemical alarm cues. *Behavioral Ecology* **15**, 810–815.
- Bruton, M.N. (1996) Alternative life-history strategies of catfishes. *Aquatic Living Resources* 9, 35–41.
- Canal, D., Jovani, R. & Potti, J. (2012) Multiple mating opportunities boost protandry in a pied flycatcher population. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **66**, 67–76.
- CEN (2005) Water quality Sampling of fish with multi-mesh gillnets. *En* 14757:2005 **3**, 29.
- Clutton-Brock, T.H. & Vincent, A.C. (1991) Sexual selection and the potential reproductive rates of males and females. *Nature* **351**, 58–60.
- Deblois, E.M. & Leggett, W.C. (1991) Functional response and potential impact of invertebrate predators on benthic fish eggs: analysis of the Calliopius laeviusculus-capelin (*Mallotus villosus*) predator-prey system. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 69, 205–216.
- Dulka, J.G., Stacey, N.E., Sorensen, P.W. & Kraak, G.J. Van Der (1987) A steroid sex pheromone synchronizes male-female spawning readiness

in goldfish. Nature 325, 251–253.

- Ellis, T.. & Nash, R.D.M. (1997) Predation by sprat and herring on pelagic fish eggs in a place spawning area in the Irish Sea. *Journal of Fish Biology* **50**, 1195–1202.
- Ferrari, M.C.O., Wisenden, B.D. & Chivers, D.P. (2010) Chemical ecology of predator-prey interactions in aquatic ecosystems: a review and prospectus. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **88**, 698–724.
- Forsgren, E., Amundsen, T., Borg, A.A. & Bjelvenmark, J. (2004) Unusually dynamic sex roles in a fish. *Nature* **429**, 551–4.
- Fox, C.J., Taylor, M.I., Van Der Kooij, J., Taylor, N., Milligan, S.P., Albaina, A., Pascoal, S., Lallias, D., Maillard, M. & Hunter, E. (2012) Identification of marine fish egg predators using molecular probes. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 462, 205–218.
- Frisch, K.R. von (1938) Zur Psychologie des Fisch-Schwarmes. *Naturwissenschaften* **26**, 601–606.
- Fuiman, L.A., Connelly, T.L., Lowerre-Barbieri, S.K. & Mcclelland, J.W. (2015) Egg boons: Central components of marine fatty acid food webs. *Ecology* 96, 362–372.
- Garant, D., Dodson, J.J. & Bernatchez, L. (2001) A genetic evaluation of mating system and determinants of individual reproductive success in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). *The Journal of Heredity* **92**, 137–45.
- Garner, P., Clough, S., Griffiths, S.W., Deans, D. & Ibbotson, A. (1998) Use of shallow marginal habitat by *Phoxinus phoxinus*: a trade-off between temperature and food? *Journal of Fish Biology* **52**, 600–609.
- Gerhardt, H.C. (1991) Female mate choice in treefrogs: static and dynamic acoustic criteria. *Animal Behaviour* **42**, 615–635.
- Gwynne, D.T. (1981) Sexual difference theory: mormon crickets show role reversal in mate choice. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **213**, 779–780.
- Hamley, J.M. (1975) Review of Gillnet Selectivity. *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **32**, 1943–1969.
- Hamley, J.M. & Regier, H.A. (1973) Direct Estimates of Gillnet Selectivity to Walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum vitreum*). *Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada* **30**, 817–830.
- Hartman, E.J. & Abrahams, M. V (2000) Sensory compensation and the detection of predators: the interaction between chemical and visual information. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 267, 571–575.

- Harvey, M.C. & Brown, G.E. (2004) Dine or dash?: Ontogenetic shift in the response of yellow perch to conspecific alarm cues. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **70**, 345–352.
- Jonsson, N., Jonsson, B. & Hansen, L.P. (1991) Energetic cost of spawning in male and female Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Journal of Fish Biology* **39**, 739–744.
- Jůza, T., Frouzová, J., Brämick, U., Draštík, V., Mrkvička, T. & Kubečka, J. (2012) The vertical distribution of fish in the open water area of a deep temperate mesotrophic lake assessed by hydroacoustic and midwater trawling. *International revue Hydrobiology* **97**, 509–525.
- Kokko, H., Gunnarsson, T.G., Morrell, L.J. & Gill, J. a. (2006) Why do female migratory birds arrive later than males? *Journal of Animal Ecology* 75, 1293–1303.
- Köster, F.W. & Möllmann, C. (2000) Trophodynamic control by clupeid predators on recruitment success in Baltic cod? *ICES Journal of Marine Science* **57**, 310–323.
- Kottelat, M. & Freyhof, J. (2007) *Handbook of European freshwater fishes*, (Vol. 2008). Publications Kottelat.
- Krpo-Četković, J., Hegediš, A. & Lenhardt, M. (2010) Diet and growth of asp, Aspius aspius (Linnaeus, 1758), In the Danube River near the confluence with the Sava River (Serbia). Journal of Applied Ichthyology 26, 513–521.
- Kubečka, J., Hohausová, E., Matěna, J., Peterka, J., Amarasinghe, U.S., Bonar, S.A., Hateley, J., Suuronen, P., Tereschenko, V., Welcomme, R. & Winfield, I.J. (2009) The true picture of a lake or reservoir fish stock: A review of needs and progress. *Fisheries Research* 96, 1–5.
- Kurkilahti, M., Appelberg, M., Hesthagen, T. & Rask, M. (2002) Effect of fish shape on gillnet selectivity: a study with Fulton's condition factor. *Fisheries Research* **54**, 153–170.
- Kurkilahti, M. & Rask, M. (1996) A comparative study of the usefulness and catchability of multimesh gill nets and gill net series in sampling of perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) and roach (*Rutilus rutilus* L.). *Fisheries Research* 27, 243–260.
- Kvarnemo, C. & Ahnesjö, I. (1996) The dynamics of operational sex ratios and competition for mates. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **11**, 404–408.
- Leggett, W.C. & Deblois, E. (1994) Recruitment in marine fishes: Is it regulated by starvation and predation in the egg and larval stages? *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research* **32**, 119–134.

- Levine, D.S. (1981) On the stability of a predator-prey system with eggeating predators. *Mathematical Biosciences* 56, 27–46.
- Mathis, A. & Smith, R.J.F. (1993) Fathead minnow, Pimephales promelas, learn to recognize northern pike, *Esox lucius*, as predators on the basis of chemical stimuli from minnows in the pike's diet. *Animal Behaviour* 46, 645–656.
- Mehner, T. (2010) No empirical evidence for community-wide top-down control of prey fish density and size by fish predators in lakes. *Limnology and Oceanography* **55**, 203–213.
- Metcalfe, N.B., Fraser, N.H.C. & Burns, M.D. (1999) Food availability and the nocturnal vs. diurnal foraging trade-off in juvenile salmon. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **68**, 260–270.
- Møller, A.P. (1994) Phenotype-dependent arrival time and its consequences in a migratory bird. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* **35**, 115–122.
- Morbey, Y. (2000) Protandry in Pacific salmon. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* **57**, 1252–1257.
- Morbey, Y.E. (2002) Protandry models and their application to salmon. *Behavioral Ecology* **13**, 337–343.
- Morbey, Y.E., Coppack, T. & Pulido, F. (2012) Adaptive hypotheses for protandry in arrival to breeding areas: a review of models and empirical tests. *Journal of Ornithology* **153**, 207–215.
- Morbey, Y.E. & Ydenberg, R.C. (2001) Protandrous arrival timing to breeding areas : a review. *Ecology letters* **4**, 663–673.
- Olin, M., Malinen, T. & Ruuhijärvi, J. (2009) Gillnet catch in estimating the density and structure of fish community—Comparison of gillnet and trawl samples in a eutrophic lake. *Fisheries Research* **96**, 88–94.
- Olin, M., Rask, M., Ruuhljärvi, J., Kurkilahti, M., Ala-Opas, P. & Ylönen, O. (2002) Fish community structure in mesotrophic and eutrophic lakes of southern Finland: the relative abundances of percids and cyprinids along a trophic gradient. *Journal of Fish Biology* **60**, 593–612.
- Olsson, M. & Madsen, T. (1996) Costs of mating with infertile males selects for late emergence in female sand lizards (*Lacerta agilis* L.). *Copeia* **2**, 462–464.
- Osse, J.W., Sibbing, F.A. & van den Boogaart, J.G. (1997) Intra-oral food manipulation of carp and other cyprinids: adaptations and limitations. *Acta physiologica Scandinavica. Supplementum* **638**, 47–57.
- Persson, L. (1986) Effects of reduced interspecific competition on resource

utilization in perch (Perca fluviatilis). Ecology 67, 355–364.

- Persson, L., Roos, A.M. De, Claessen, D., Byström, P., Lövgren, J., Sjogrën, S., Svanbäck, R., Wahlström, E. & Westman, E. (2003) Gigantic cannibals driving a whole-lake trophic cascade. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100, 4035–4039.
- Peterka, J. & Matěna, J. (2011) Feeding behaviour determining differential capture success of evasive prey in underyearling European perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) and roach (*Rutilus rutilus* (L.)). *Hydrobiologia* **661**, 113–121.
- Poikane, S., Ritterbusch, D., Argillier, C., Białokoz, W., Blabolil, P., Breine, J., Jaarsma, N.G., Krause, T., Kubečka, J., Lauridsen, T.L., Nõges, P., Peirson, G. & Virbickas, T. (2017) Response of fish communities to multiple pressures: Development of a total anthropogenic pressure intensity index. *Science of the Total Environment* 586, 502–511.
- Power, M.E. (1992) Top-down and bottom-up forces in food webs: do plants have primacy? *Ecology* **73**, 733–746.
- Prchalová, M., Kubečka, J., Čech, M., Frouzová, J., Draštík, V., Hohausová, E., Jůza, T., Kratochvíl, M., Matěna, J., Peterka, J., Říha, M., Tušer, M. & Vašek, M. (2009a) The effect of depth, distance from dam and habitat on spatial distribution of fish in an artificial reservoir. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 18, 247–260.
- Prchalová, M., Kubečka, J., Říha, M., Čech, M., Jůza, T., Ketelaars, H.A.M., Kratochvíl, M., Mrkvička, T., Peterka, J., Vašek, M. & Wagenvoort, A.J. (2013) Eel attacks—A new tool for assessing European eel (Anguilla anguilla) abundance and distribution patterns with gillnet sampling. Limnologica - Ecology and Management of Inland Waters 43, 194–202.
- Prchalová, M., Kubečka, J., Říha, M., Litvín, R., Čech, M., Frouzová, J., Hladík, M., Hohausová, E., Peterka, J. & Vašek, M. (2008a) Overestimation of percid fishes (Percidae) in gillnet sampling. *Fisheries Research* 91.
- Prchalová, M., Kubečka, J., Říha, M., Mrkvicka, T., Vašek, M., Juza, T., Kratochvil, M., Peterka, J., Draštík, V. & Krizek, J. (2009b) Size selectivity of standardized multimesh gillnets in sampling coarse European species. *Fisheries Research* **96**, 51–57.
- Prchalová, M., Kubečka, J., Vašek, M., Peterka, J., Sed'a, J., Jůza, T., Říha, M., Jarolím, O., Tušer, M., Kratochvíl, M., Čech, M., Draštík, V., Frouzová, J. & Hohausová, E. (2008b) Distribution patterns of fishes in a canyon-shaped reservoir. *Journal of Fish Biology* **73**, 54–78.

- Prchalová, M., Mrkvička, T., Kubečka, J., Peterka, J., Čech, M., Muška, M., Kratochvíl, M. & Vašek, M. (2010) Fish activity as determined by gillnet catch: A comparison of two reservoirs of different turbidity. *Fisheries Research* **102**, 291–296.
- Ranåker, L., Brönmark, C., Nilsson, P.A., Jönsson, M. & Persson, J. (2012) *Piscivore-prey fish interactions: consequences of changing optical environment.* Lund University.
- Říha, M., Jůza, T., Prchalová, M., Mrkvička, T., Čech, M., Draštík, V., Muška, M., Kratochvíl, M., Peterka, J., Tušer, M., Vašek, M. & Kubečka, J. (2012) The size selectivity of the main body of a sampling pelagic pair trawl in freshwater reservoirs during the night. *Fisheries Research* 128, 56–60.
- Říha, M., Kubečka, J., Vašek, M., Seďa, J., Mrkvička, T., Prchalová, M., Matēna, J., Hladík, M., Čech, M., Draštík, V., Frouzová, J., Hohausová, E., Jarolím, O., Jůza, T., Kratochvíl, M., Peterka, J. & Tušer, M. (2009) Long-term development of fish populations in the Římov Reservoir. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 16, 121–129.
- Říha, M., Ricard, D., Vašek, M., Prchalová, M., Mrkvička, T., Jůza, T., Čech, M., Draštík, V., Muška, M., Kratochvíl, M., Peterka, J., Tušer, M., Seďa, J., Blabolil, P., Bláha, M., Wanzenböck, J. & Kubečka, J. (2015) Patterns in diel habitat use of fish covering the littoral and pelagic zones in a reservoir. *Hydrobiologia* 747, 111–131.
- Shoup, D.E. & Wahl, D.H. (2009) The Effects of Turbidity on Prey Selection by Piscivorous Largemouth Bass. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 138, 1018–1027.
- Šmejkal, M., Blabolil, P., Baran, R., Draštík, V., Kočvara, L., Kolařík, T., Prachař, Z., Sajdlová, Z., Vebrová, L., Vejřík, L. & Kubečka, J. (2016) Population size, age structure and spawning dynamics of asp (*Leuciscus aspius*) in Želivka Reservoir (in Czech). Biology Center of Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice.
- Šmejkal, M., Prchalová, M., Čech, M., Vašek, M., Říha, M., Jůza, T., Blabolil, P. & Kubečka, J. (2014) Associations of fish with various types of littoral habitats in reservoirs. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 23, 405–413.
- Šmejkal, M., Ricard, D., Vejřík, L., Mrkvička, T., Vebrová, L., Baran, R., Blabolil, P., Sajdlová, Z., Vejříková, I., Prchalová, M. & Kubečka, J. (2017) Seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish. *Scientific Reports* 7, 4737.

Sorensen, P.W., Hara, T.J., Stacey, N.E. & Goetz, F.W. (1988) F

prostaglandins function as potent olfactory stimulants that comprise the postovulatory female sex pheromone in goldfish. *Biology of reproduction* **39**, 1039–1050.

- Sorensen, P.W. & Wisenden, B.D. (2015) *Fish Pheromones and Related Cues.* Wiley Blackwell.
- Specziár, A. & Rezsu, E.T. (2009) Feeding guilds and food resource partitioning in a lake fish assemblage: An ontogenetic approach. *Journal of Fish Biology* **75**, 247–267.
- Stensmyr, M.C. & Maderspacher, F. (2012) Pheromones: Fish fear factor. *Current Biology* 22.
- Svensson, I. (1988) Reproductive Costs in Two Sex-Role Reversed Pipefish Species (Syngnathidae). *The Journal of Animal Ecology* **57**, 929–942.
- Székely, T., Weissing, F.J. & Komdeur, J. (2014) Adult sex ratio variation: Implications for breeding system evolution. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 27, 1500–1512.
- Weir, L.K., Grant, J.W.A. & Hutchings, J.A. (2011) The influence of operational sex ratio on the intensity of competition for mates. *The American naturalist* 177, 167–176.
- Wikelski, M., Carbone, C. & Trillmich, F. (1996) Lekking in marine iguanas: female grouping and male reproductive strategies. *Animal Behaviour* 52, 581–596.
- Wootton, R.J. & Smith, C. (2014) Parental care. In: *Reproductive Biology of Teleost Fishes*. pp 251–280.

Research articles
Paper I

Can species-specific responses to chemical cues explain prey susceptibility to predation?

Šmejkal, M., Ricard, D., Sajdlová, Z., Mrkvička, T., Čech, M., Vejřík, L., Blabolil, P., Vejříková, I., Prchalová, M., Vašek, M., Souza, A.T., Brönmark, C., Peterka, J. (in prep.). Can species-specific responses to chemical cues explain prey susceptibility to predation?

Abstract

The perception of danger represents an essential ability of prey for gaining an informational advantage over their natural enemies. Especially in complex environments or at night, animals strongly rely on chemoreception to avoid predators. The ability to recognize danger by chemical cues and subsequent adaptive responses to predation threats should generally increase prev survival. We tested this using different species of freshwater fish and by combining small-scale experiments with a manipulative experiment in the field. First, in a laboratory experiment, we tested whether chemical cues associated with predation affected the behaviour of three common prey fish species, rudd (Scardinius erythrophthalmus), roach (Rutilus rutilus) and perch (Perca fluviatilis). Further, we conducted a prey selectivity experiment to evaluate the prey preferences of a top aquatic predator, the European catfish (Silurus glanis). In addition, we analysed fish community data from two similar lakes (catfish stocked and catfish absent lake) inhabited by the three prey species, rudd, roach, perch and one predator species - pike (Esox *lucius*). Catfish predation caused a significant change in the prey population structure, with a decrease in the abundance of older individuals of species with absent (perch) or inadequate responses (rudd) to chemical cues.

The paper cannot be presented here in its full version due to copyright issues. The article is currently under review in PLOS One. The full thesis is available at University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice, Faculty of Science.

Paper II

Biomass and Abundance Biases in European Standard Gillnet Sampling



G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Šmejkal M, Ricard D, Prchalová M, Říha M, Muška M, Blabolil P, et al. (2015) Biomass and Abundance Biases in European Standard Gillnet Sampling. PLoS ONE 10(3): e0122437. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0122437

Academic Editor: Robert Britton, Bournemouth University, UNITED KINGDOM

Received: December 18, 2014

Accepted: February 14, 2015

Published: March 20, 2015

Copyright: © 2015 Šmejkal et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Funding: Ecohydros S.L. provided support in the form of salaries for authors [AMH], but did not have any additional role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. The specific roles of these authors are articulated in the 'author contributions' section.

Competing Interests: AMH is employed by Ecohydros S.L. This does not alter the authors' adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials. RESEARCH ARTICLE

Biomass and Abundance Biases in European Standard Gillnet Sampling

Marek Šmejkal^{1,2©}, Daniel Ricard^{1©}, Marie Prchalová^{1‡}, Milan Říha^{1‡}, Milan Muška^{1‡}, Petr Blabolil^{1,2‡}, Martin Čech^{1‡}, Mojmír Vašek^{1‡}, Tomáš Jůza^{1‡}, Agustín Monteoliva Herreras^{3‡}, Lourdes Encina^{4‡}, Jiří Peterka^{1‡}, Jan Kubečka^{1‡}*

1 Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, v.v.i., Institute of Hydrobiology, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 2 Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic, 3 Ecohydros S.L., Polígono Industrial de Cros, Maliaño (Cantabria), Spain, 4 Department of Plant Biology and Ecology, Faculty of Biology, University of Seville, Seville, Spain

These authors contributed equally to this work.

‡ These authors also contributed equally to this work.

* kubecka@hbu.cas.cz

Abstract

The European Standard EN 14757 recommends gillnet mesh sizes that range from 5 to 55mm (knot-to-knot) for the standard monitoring of fish assemblages and suggests adding gillnets with larger mesh sizes if necessary. Our research showed that the recommended range of mesh sizes did not provide a representative picture of fish sizes for larger species that commonly occur in continental Europe. We developed a novel, large mesh gillnet which consists of mesh sizes 70, 90, 110 and 135mm (knot to knot, 10m panels) and assessed its added value for monitoring purposes. From selectivity curves obtained by sampling with single mesh size gillnets (11 mesh sizes 6 - 55mm) and large mesh gillnets, we identified the threshold length of bream (Abramis brama) above which this widespread large species was underestimated by European standard gillnet catches. We tested the European Standard gillnet by comparing its size composition with that obtained during concurrent pelagic trawling and purse seining in a cyprinid-dominated reservoir and found that the European Standard underestimated fish larger than 292mm by 26 times. The inclusion of large mesh gillnets in the sampling design removed this underestimation. We analysed the length-age relationship of bream in the Římov Reservoir, and concluded that catches of bream larger than 292mm and older than five years were seriously underrepresented in European Standard gillnet catches. The Římov Reservoir is a typical cyprinid-dominated water body where the biomass of bream > 292mm formed 70% of the pelagic trawl and purse seine catch. The species-specific relationships between the large mesh gillnet catch and European Standard catch suggested that the presence of carp (Cyprinus carpio), European catfish (Silurus glanis), tench (Tinca tinca) or bream warrants the use of both gillnet types. We suggest extending the gillnet series in the European Standard to avoid misinterpretation of fish community biomass estimates.

Introduction

Developing a tool capable of producing an unbiased picture of lentic fish communities became a task of increasing urgency as biotic and abiotic characteristics of the environment started being evaluated by standardized methods across Europe [1,2]. In recent decades, gillnet sampling methodologies evolved from single mesh gillnets into multimesh gillnets and became one of the key tools for assessing fish biomass, abundance and species composition of lentic communities [2,3]. When compared to other methods for estimating fish abundance and biomass, gillnets have advantages such as relatively low sampling costs, ease of use and possible deployment in a variety of lentic water habitats [4]. The data obtained from standardized sampling procedures may be used for large scale comparisons across various water bodies and serves as the main tool for interpreting differences in fish communities [5–7]. During the development of lentic water metrics to support the Water Framework Directive [8], certain large fish species were included as indicators [2]. Because data obtained by European Standard gillnets (ESG hereafter) have limits in representative catchable size of fish [4], improvements to gillnet sampling methodology are required to avoid biased sampling results.

ESG data were recently used for analysing piscivore top down control of prey fish [5], and size spectra of lake fish assemblages [6,9]. ESG catch is used according to recent findings that fish smaller than 80mm are underrepresented [10-12] and are thus left out of subsequent size spectra analyses [6]. Although large fish are more likely to be caught in gillnets than their smaller conspecifics due to increasing swimming ability with body size [13,14], large fish are also reported to be underrepresented in standard gear catch [15-17].

Despite the usefulness of gillnet data in comparative studies, gillnets as a passive gear were repeatedly proven to be size- and species-selective [10,18,19]. Size- and species-selectivity may be based on different encounter, contact and retention probabilities [reviewed in 20]. The main nature of gillnet mechanical selectivity is based on the relationship between fish girth and mesh perimeter [21,22] or, alternatively, fish species length and mesh size [20,23,24]. In order to sample the wide range of fish sizes that compose a water body's community structure, the multimesh gillnets of Norden type consisting of 12 different mesh sizes were developed [1]. To avoid biased length-frequency distribution of samples captured by multi-mesh gillnets, ESG mesh sizes follow a geometric series from 5mm to 55mm with a ratio of 1.25 [1,24] such that the selectivity of adjacent mesh sizes overlaps [25].

The efficiency of most sampling methods is affected by fish species and size. In various sampling methods, the lowest efficiencies have been recorded for extreme sizes of fish (i.e. very small and large individuals; [26]). This fact is also true for the ESG where a biased picture for young-of-the-year and one year old fish (so-called 0+ and 1+ fish) was detected. These small fish are underestimated by gillnet catches and need adjustment before the data can be correctly interpreted [10]. Jurvelius *et al.* briefly described biased gillnet catches of large fish in their comparison of four sampling methods (gillnetting, seining, trawling and hydroacoustics, [27]). The European Standard describes the catchable fish size as a range from 40–400mm total length [4]. An exact evaluation of the ESG catch of large fish has not yet been done and is missing from the scientific literature.

The goal of this study was to investigate how the ESG catch of large fish is biased in terms of fish biomass, abundance and fish species and size composition. In order to compare the ESG with another tool capable of estimating catch rates of large fish (biomass per unit of effort, BPUE), we simultaneously deployed ESG along with a novel type of multimesh gillnet consisting of four large mesh sizes (large mesh gillnet, LMG hereafter), expanding the geometric series of the European Standard. We also compared gillnet samples with catches obtained by pelagic trawling and purse seining that do capture the full spectrum of fish sizes. We anticipated that

the largest fish of certain species would be underestimated by the ESG and that the LMG would improve their biomass estimates.

The aims of this study were: (I) to estimate the threshold fish size above which the ESG is ineffective for estimating fish community biomass and abundance using selectivity curves approach (II) to compare the fish community biomass spectrum obtained by ESG to that obtained by trawl, purse seine and LMG, (III) to identify species for which the LMG sampling is essential, and (IV) to analyse the sampling bias of ESG for large bream (*Abramis brama*), a common and widespread large fish species in Europe.

Methods

Fish sampling

Three types of gillnets were deployed during this study—single mesh gillnets (SMG hereafter), ESG and LMG. We used SMG and LMG data to describe mesh size selectivity and for fitting selectivity curves. ESG and LMG were deployed concurrently to directly compare their catches and to identify possible improvements of gillnet sampling by extending the mesh size range.

Sampling by SMG was conducted in the Římov Reservoir, Czech Republic, from 1999 to 2003. The mesh sizes used were 6.25, 8, 10, 12.5, 15.5, 19.5, 24, 29, 35, 43, 55, 60, 65 and 85mm (knot to knot; benthic and pelagic gillnet measured 1.5m height x 25m length and 4.5m height x 25m length, respectively, <u>S1 Table</u>). ESG following the European Standard Document [4] (benthic gillnet: 1.5m height x 30m length, 2.5m panels for each 12 mesh sizes; pelagic gillnet: 3m or 4.5m height x 30m length, 2.5m panels for each 12 mesh sizes) were used for sampling from 2009 to 2013 in 12 Czech and two Spanish reservoirs, and in two Czech post-mining lakes (Fig. 1, S2 Table). ESG mesh sizes follow a geometric series with a ratio of about 1.25 (5, 6.25, 8, 10, 12.5, 15.5, 19.5, 24, 29, 35, 43 and 55mm; [4]). LMG consisting of four mesh sizes extending the ESG geometric series (70, 90, 110 and 135mm; knot to knot; size 1.5m height x 40m length, 10m panels for each 4 mesh sizes) were deployed in the same habitats and localities along with the ESG. The density of large individuals is usually much lower than the density of their small conspecifics [15,28], so the length of LMG panels was made 4 times larger than ESG panels to increase the probability of capturing large individuals, and to improve the precision of abundance and biomass estimates. Both ESG and LMG were deployed in sets consisting of three gillnets joined by 30m rope. For LMG, mesh-specific catch was recorded in most years and water bodies.

Depth stratified sampling was conducted in all water bodies. Depth ranges were 0–3m, 3-6m, 6-9m, 9-12m, 12-18m and > 20m for benthic habitats; and 0-4.5m and 5-9.5m for pelagic habitats. Each water body was divided into several localities along its longitudinal axis in order to cover the gradient of fish distribution following nutrient concentration from tributary to dam [29]. Each locality was sampled to its maximum depth using the above stratification scheme. To cover both the sunset and sunrise peaks of fish activity, gillnets were deployed two hours before sunset and lifted two hours after sunrise [30].

The catch was sorted by species and standard length (SL) was measured for each individual fish. Catch data was expressed as biomass per unit of effort (BPUE, kilograms per 1000m²) by dividing the catch biomass by the area of deployed gillnets and multiplying by 1000. For each species, subsamples of at least 50 individuals from each reservoir and year were also weighed to the nearest gram to estimate length-weight relationships used in calculation of total catch biomass.

Active gear sampling was performed in the Římov Reservoir in 2010. Pelagic trawling and purse seining were used at night in the pelagic zone to obtain independent estimates of the length frequency distributions and biomass of the whole fish community. To obtain an



Fig 1. Map of the Czech Republic and Spain showing the locations of the water bodies sampled in this study. Reservoirs located in Spain: 1—Aracena, 2—Ebro. Reservoirs and lake located in the Czech Republic: 1—Hněvkovice, 2—Kamýk, 3—Lipno, 4—Malá Rozkoš 5—Milada, 6—Morávka, 7—Most, 8—Nová Říše, 9—Římov, 10—Rozkoš, 11—Vír, 12—Vranov, 13—Želivka, 14—Žlutice.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122437.g001

unbiased sample of fish length-frequency distribution, density estimates of small fish (\leq 180mm) were obtained by purse seining and those of larger fish (>180mm) were obtained using the trawl [<u>31</u>]. This approach was chosen because of recent findings that the trawl used underestimates the fish density up to 180 mm SL [<u>31</u>]. The trawl opening width was 12–13.5m, and the opening height was 8m. The lengths of the main body and cod end were 38m and 11m, respectively. The mesh size in the main body was 80/40/20mm (half mesh, knot centre) from the opening toward the end and 10mm in the cod end. The purse seine net had a length of 120 m and height of 12 m. The exact position of each haul was recorded with a Garmin GPS device during the setting of the net, and the area sampled was calculated with OziExplorer software [<u>32</u>]. Trawl and purse seine catches were expressed as biomass per unit of effort (BPUE, kilograms per hectare).

Selectivity curves

We calculated the intersection of selectivity curves of 55mm and 70mm mesh sizes for bream to identify the threshold standard fish length where sampling by the 70mm mesh size starts being more efficient than sampling with the 55mm mesh size. The intersection of the two curves is the fish length value $\chi_{threshold}$, which resulted in the same probability density for the

Gaussian distributions for the 55mm and the 70mm mesh size. That is, we found the value $\chi_{threshold}$ such that:

$$f(\mathbf{x}_{threshold}, \mu_{55mm}, \sigma_{55mm}) = f(\mathbf{x}_{threshold}, \mu_{70mm}, \sigma_{70mm}) \tag{1}$$

where *f* is the Gaussian probability density function $(f(x, \mu, \sigma) = \sqrt{(2\pi * \sigma^2)} * \exp\left(-\frac{(x-\mu)^2}{2*\sigma^2}\right)$,

 μ_{55mm} , σ_{55mm} are the mean and standard deviation of the 55mm mesh size selectivity curve and μ_{70mm} , σ_{70mm} are the mean and standard deviation of the 70mm mesh size selectivity curve.

Biomass- and abundance-at-length

Biomass-at-length information was used to generate biomass spectra for ESG and LMG to determine the proportion of the fish community that was missed by ESG sampling. Length-specific BPUE (25mm length classes from 10 to 560mm) were computed for ESG and LMG and then used to compare the biomass spectrum captured by each type of gear, and to determine whether large fish were underrepresented and what improvements were achieved by the addition of LMG gear.

The length frequency distributions of fish caught by pelagic trawls and purse seines were compared to those obtained by ESG and LMG catches to evaluate whether the full spectrum of fish sizes was captured by using both ESG and LMG. We used a one-sided t-test to determine whether the mean fish length from the LMG was statistically smaller than the mean length of large fish captured by trawl (i.e. whether the LMG catch captures the whole size spectrum of large individuals). The trawl capture data used in the t-test consisted of fish individuals that were larger or equal to the smallest fish caught in the LMG.

To further examine whether the ESG captured the full spectrum of fish sizes, we calculated mesh-specific selectivity curves for bream sampled by SMG and LMG in the Římov Reservoir from 1999 to 2013. We chose bream as an example of a common and widespread species in Europe [33] because it has a wide spectrum of lengths over its long lifespan (see subsection Length-age analysis below) and is an ideal species to examine size selectivity of ESG. The catches obtained from three LMG mesh sizes (70, 90, 110mm) were used to determine whether or not some large fish were properly sampled by ESG.

To estimate whether biomass estimates derived from ESG samples were biased, and to quantify this bias, BPUE obtained from active gear and pelagic gillnet catches were compared for fish above and below the ESG standard length threshold ($SL \ge \chi_{threshold}$ and $SL < \chi_{threshold}$). To circumvent the problem arising from the fact that trawl and gillnet BPUE have different units, BPUE ratios were used to provide a measure of ESG bias. We estimated the ESG bias for large fish by computing the difference in trawl to ESG BPUE ratios for small and large individuals using the following equation:

$$\frac{BPUE_{active,SL(2)$$

where β_{ESG} quantified the ESG sampling bias magnitude for large fish. A positive value of β_{ESG} indicated that large fish were under-sampled by ESG. To determine whether the inclusion of LMG sampling reduced the estimated bias for large fish, a similar ratio was computed for trawl BPUE and total gillnet BPUE (ESG and LMG together) for fish above and below the ESG

PLOS ONE | DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0122437 March 20, 2015

size threshold:

$$\frac{BPUE_{active,SL < x_{threshold}}}{BPUE_{ESG,SL < x_{threshold}} + BPUE_{LMG,SL < x_{threshold}}} = \beta_{ESG+LMG} \frac{BPUE_{active,SL \ge x_{threshold}}}{BPUE_{ESG,SL \ge x_{threshold}} + BPUE_{LMG,SL \ge x_{threshold}}}$$
(3)

where $\beta_{ESG+LMG}$ is the estimated bias of the total gillnet catches.

Species-specific LMG to ESG catch relationships

Species-specific benthic BPUE was computed for both ESG and LMG in all available reservoirs and years for the 17 species which had more than five BPUE records. The relationship between ESG and LMG biomasses (*ESG*_s and *LMG*_s, respectively) was then estimated for every species *s* using the following linear model:

$$\log(LMG_s + 1) = \alpha_s + \beta_s \log(ESG_s + 1) \tag{4}$$

The model allows the identification of 1) species for which LMG catches are not significant (intercept α_S and slope β_S values near zero), 2) species for which LMG catches are positively correlated with ESG catches (intercept value near zero and positive slope value) and 3) species for which LMG catches are significant and are underrepresented in the ESG catches (positive intercept value). These species-specific estimates allowed the identification of the types of water bodies where LMG should be deployed along ESG to representatively sample all fish sizes.

Length-age analysis

In order to evaluate the representation of large bream cohorts in terms of biomass and age classes between ESG and LMG, we examined the length-age structure of the Římov Reservoir bream population. 105 individuals caught during the 2012 sampling campaign were used for length-age analysis. Otolith reading was used for ageing fish. The relationship between *age* and *length* was estimated using a logarithmic curve of the form:

$$age = e^{(\alpha + \beta length)} \tag{5}$$

where α and β were estimated using a generalised linear model with Gamma error and a log link.

The estimated length-age relationship allowed us to identify the age of bream corresponding to a standard length of $\chi_{threshold}$ from equation (1). This standard length (*SL*) was then converted to total length (*TL*) using the following linear relationship:

$$TL = \alpha + \beta SL \tag{6}$$

where parameters α and β were estimated using 756 bream individuals for which both standard length and total length measurements were available. These individuals were captured during yearly sampling in the Římov Reservoir between 2000 and 2012. Standard lengths ranged from 31mm to 426mm and total lengths ranged from 39mm to 520mm.

All analyses were conducted using the R software version 3.1.2 [34].

Results

From 1999 to 2003, a total of 1145 SMGs, with a combined sampled area of 60543.75m², were deployed in the Římov Reservoir resulting in a catch of 14614 fish with a combined biomass of 1659.36kg. From 2009 to 2013, 1404 ESGs and 1221 LMGs were deployed in 16 water bodies

with a combined sampled area of 93150 m^2 and 108585 m^2 respectively, resulting in a combined ESG catch of 84502 fish with biomass of 4082.25kg, and a combined LMG catch of 1396 fish with biomass of 2011.85kg.

The ESG catch contained a total of 36 species and 6 kinds of hybrids while the LMG catch consisted of 18 species and 2 hybrids (Table 1). However, the bulk of the LMG catch came from eight species: bream (55.2% in numbers and 31.7% in biomass), carp *Cyprinus carpio* (30.2% and 46.7%), European catfish *Silurus glanis* (2.1% and 5.8%), asp *Leuciscus aspius* (1.9% and 3.5%), tench *Tinca tinca* (2.9% and 3.2%), rudd *Scardinius erythrophthalmus* (2.6% and 2.0%), European whitefish *Coregonus lavaretus* (1.4% and 1.5%), and pikeperch *Sander lucioperca* (1.0% and 1.4%). Although ESG were deployed in the same reservoirs and localities as LMG, two species and a hybrid (bighead carp *Hypophthalmichthys nobilis*, Siberian sturgeon *Acipenser baerii* and white bream x rudd *Blicca bjoerkna x Scardinius erythrophthalmus* hybrid) were only detected by LMG (Table 1).

Selectivity curves

From equation (1), we determined the intersection of the 55mm mesh size and 70mm mesh size Gaussian distribution curves to be 292mm for bream. The dataset used for length frequency analyses of bream included individuals ranging from 30 to 420mm in standard length. The majority of length classes were properly covered by mesh sizes used in ESG. Although there was a wide range of catchable lengths of ESG, ESG was not capable of enmeshing the larger bream also present in the community (Fig. 2). Thus, the ESG mesh size range did not representatively cover the whole size spectrum of bream.

Biomass- and abundance-at-length

The biomass spectra (BPUE-at-length) for ESG and LMG obtained from the Římov Reservoir in 2010 (Fig. 3a) indicated that ESG sampling missed a significant proportion of the fish community biomass, especially for fish greater than 300mm standard length. While the ESG BPUE peaked at a standard length of 290mm and did not capture individuals larger than 390mm, the LMG BPUE peaked at a standard length of 330mm and extended towards larger sizes up to 530mm.

The LMG length-frequencies did not significantly differ from the large fish lengthfrequencies obtained by trawling (one-sided t-test, p = 0.94 in the 2010 sampling year). Both pelagic trawl and LMG showed peak frequencies for larger fish (300–350mm standard length, Fig. 3b). Fish above 300mm of standard length represented 37% of abundance and 70% of biomass of the trawled and purse seined fish community. However, this peak was not recorded in ESG catches indicating a serious underestimation of fish larger than 300mm of standard length during ESG sampling (Fig. 3b).

We estimated that the ESG bias for large fish, as determined by parameter β_{ESG} in equation (2), was a 26-fold underestimation. By adding the LMG samples to the sampling design (equation 3), the bias decreased substantially to a 1.36-fold underestimation of large fish. The value of both β_{ESG} and $\beta_{\text{ESG+LMG}}$ represented the magnitude of the change in active gear to gillnet BPUE ratios for small and large fish. A value slightly above or below 1.0 can still identify an unbiased sampling strategy since there is a certain amount of measurement error in both gillnet and active gear catches.

Species-specific LMG to ESG catch relationships

Based on species-specific regressions between LMG and ESG biomasses we identified species for which deployment of LMG significantly improved gillnet-based estimates. Small- and

Family	Common name	Scientific name	ESG	LMG
Acipenseridae	Siberian sturgeon	Acipenser baerii		Х
Anguillidae	Eel	Anguilla anguilla	Х	
Balitoridae	stone loach	Barbatula barbatula	х	
Centrarchidae	largemouth bass	Micropterus salmoides	х	
Centrarchidae	pumpkinseed	Lepomis gibbosus	х	
Cobitidae	spined loach	Cobitis elongatoides	х	
Cyprinidae	Andalusian barbel	Luciobarbus sclaterii	х	Х
Cyprinidae	asp	Leuciscus aspius	х	Х
Cyprinidae	belica	Leucaspius delineates	х	
Cyprinidae	bighead carp	Hypophthalmichthys nobilis		Х
Cyprinidae	bleak	Alburnus alburnus	х	
Cyprinidae	bream	Abramis brama	Х	Х
Cyprinidae	carp	Cyprinus carpio	Х	х
Cyprinidae	chub	Squalius cephalus	Х	
Cyprinidae	dace	Leuciscus leuciscus	Х	
Cyprinidae	Ebro barbel	Luciobarbus graellsii	Х	Х
Cyprinidae	Ebro nase	Parachondrostoma miegii	х	
Cyprinidae	Grass carp	Ctenopharyngodon idella	х	
Cyprinidae	gudgeon	Gobio gobio	х	
Cyprinidae	hybrid asp x ide	Leuciscus aspius x Leuciscus idus	х	
Cyprinidae	hybrid white bream x rudd	Blicca bjoerkna x Scardinius erythrophthalmus		х
Cvprinidae	hvbrid white bream x vimba bream	Blicca bioerkna x Vimba vimba	Х	
Cvprinidae	hvbrid white bream x bream	Blicca bioerkna x Abramis brama	х	
Cvprinidae	hvbrid roach x bream	Rutilus rutilus x Abramis brama	Х	
Cvprinidae	hybrid white bream x roach	Blicca bioerkna x Rutilus rutilus	х	
Cvprinidae	hvbrid roach x rudd	Rutilus rutilus x Scardinius ervthrophthalmus	Х	Х
Cvprinidae	Iberian gudgeon	Gobio lozanoj	х	
Cvprinidae	ide	Leuciscus idus	X	
Cvprinidae	Prussian carp	Carassius dibelio	X	х
Cyprinidae	roach	Butilus rutilus	X	X
Cyprinidae	rudd	Scardinius ervthrophthalmus	x	x
Cvprinidae	Spanish nase	Pseudochondrostoma willkommii	X	~
Cyprinidae	stone moroko	Pseudorasbora pan/a	x	
Cyprinidae	tench	Tinca	x	x
Cyprinidae	vimba bream	Vimba vimba	x	~
Cyprinidae	white bream	Blicca bioerkna	x	x
Esocidae	nike	Esox lucius	x	x
Gobiidae	tubenose goby	Proterorhinus marmoratus	x	~
Percidae	nerch	Perca fluviatilis	x	x
Percidae	nikenerch	Sander lucionerca	x	x
Percidae	ruffe	Gympocephalus cernua	x	~
Salmonidae	brown trout	Salmo trutta	x	x
Salmonidae	Furopean whitefish	Coregonus Javaretus	x	x
Salmonidae	aravling	Thymallus thymallus	x	~
Salmonidae	rainbow trout	Oncorhynchus mykiss	x	
Siluridae	Furopean catfish	Silurus alanis	X	x
			~ ~	~ ~

Table 1. Species captured by ESG and LMG in all water bodies sampled during the study.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122437.t001



Fig 2. Mesh-specific length frequency distributions of bream captured in SMG in the Římov Reservoir and LMG in all sampled water bodies. The selectivity curve of the 55mm mesh size (the largest mesh size of the ESG) is highlighted and the fish standard length corresponding to the intersection between the 55 and 70mm curves ($\chi_{threshold}$) is shown.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122437.g002

medium-sized species (bleak *Alburnus alburnus*, roach *Rutilus rutilus* and ruffe *Gymnocephalus cernua*) had intercept and slope values that were not statistically different from zero, indicating that they were never captured in LMG. Thus gillnet-based estimates of small- and medium-sized fish communities were unlikely to be improved by LMG sampling. Larger species (carp, European catfish, tench and bream) had significantly positive intercept (p<0.001, p<0.05, p<0.05 and p<0.1, respectively) and slope values (p<0.001, p<0.05, p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively) indicating that these species were regularly recorded in LMG catches but underrepresented in ESG samples. A higher proportion of large species in fish communities led to a larger bias in the ESG estimates, and LMG sampling improved the biomass estimates of such communities. Rudd had a significantly positive slope (p<0.01) and near zero intercept value (p = 0.41, i.e. slope is not significantly different from zero), which suggested that its LMG catche was proportional to its ESG catch.

Length-age analysis

The threshold standard length of bream ($\chi_{threshold} = 292mm$) computed from equation (1) was equivalent to a total length of 366mm, (equation 6, *TL* = 4.4+1.24*SL*) which corresponded to 5 year old fish (Fig. 4). Bream larger than this threshold standard length of 292mm and 5 years of age and more were not representatively recorded by ESG sampling. These large individuals





doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122437.g003

represented 10% of bream caught by SMG (231 out of 2290 individuals), and 35% of the bream catch weight (170 out of 486kgs). In comparison, large bream accounted for only 6% of individuals caught by ESG, but for 94% of individuals caught by LMG (38% and 96% of bream catch weight, respectively).

Discussion

The current version of the European Standard document (2005) states that "the location of each gillnet in the lake is determined in such way that the total catch should constitute an

PLOS ONE



Fig 4. Bream length-age relationship in the Římov Reservoir, 2012. Vertical and horizontal lines indicate standard length of 292mm and age of five years, respectively, the threshold length and age above which bream is underrepresented in ESG catch.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122437.g004

unbiased sample of the catchable part of the fish assemblage in the lake. '*Catchable*' fish means active fish species within a range of about 40mm to 400mm which are usually caught in gillnets." We provided evidence of the fact that sampling by European Standard methods biases estimates of fish even smaller than 400mm of total length (367mm of total length in case of bream). Further, we showed that these fish constituted a considerable part of the fish assemblage in some water bodies. Because certain large fish species were recently included in the evaluation metrics of lentic waters within the Water Framework Directive [8], we recommend the addition of large-mesh gillnet sampling to avoid biased sampling results.

Obtaining a correct estimate of fish community length-frequency distribution requires representative fish samples. A major hurdle stems from the fact that all fishing gears provide biased results. The most pronounced biases in length-frequency distributions are for individuals of extreme sizes [26] and the largest individuals from a water body are often not detected by common sampling gear [16]. In the case of active fishing gear, large fish are able to escape from the moving gear because of their greater swimming capacity compared to smaller individuals [35,36]. Gillnet size-selectivity is strongly dependent on their design [37]. When comparing different gear for fish sampling, a number of studies identified an underestimation of large fish by ESG [15,17,27]. The latter study [17] suggests using 70mm mesh size gillnets in alpine lakes to increase the catchability of large fish and to improve estimates of size distribution and biomass of fish communities. We showed that simultaneous deployment of large mesh gillnet would improve the precision in length-frequency distribution estimates.

Holmgren & Appelberg [15] pointed out that additional sampling effort, beyond what is required for smaller fish, would be needed to obtain reliable biomass estimates for large fish. In the case of LMG design, we extended the length of large mesh panels from ESG's 2.5m to 10m for several reasons. First, we expected that large fish would be less numerous than their smaller conspecifics due to the fact that natural mortality in fish is highest during early stages of their life history (so-called type III survivorship curve, [28]). Second, we assumed that gillnet saturation was more pronounced as the size of fish increase because of the disturbance that caught fish cause to their surroundings [38–40]. Third, we aimed to achieve a high precision in our estimates of large fish since large fish can compose a considerable part of the overall biomass in certain fish communities [27,41].

The composition of the fish community in a water body was shown to be mostly dependent on latitude, altitude, nutrient concentration and morphology [6,42,43]. The recent findings of Emmrich *et al.* [9] show that in general, average fish size declines from north to south. On a finer scale, we can identify several types of water bodies with distinct fish assemblages: deep vendace (*Coregonus albula*) lakes, shallow roach lakes and ruffe lakes [42]. A high proportion of large fish is found in alpine lakes [9,44], in bream-dominated lowland reservoirs of Central Europe and in northern shallow eutrophic lakes [45,46]. The lakes chosen for the development of ESG were based on sampling of predominantly small species [1,24,39]. Therefore, the largest mesh size from ESG geometric series is insufficient for sampling of large fish assemblages.

The data used in this study were collected predominantly in reservoirs, man-made water bodies with a number of anthropogenic pressures that are deteriorating aquatic communities [47]. Large fish are often the most prone to human influences and disappear from impacted ecosystems faster than small ones [48,49]. The large proportion of small fish observed while sampling reservoirs using gear that underestimates large fish may lead to the false assumption that large fish are only a minor part of the fish community. However, large fish are an integral part of ecosystem functioning [50] and may serve as an important indicator of human disturbances. Moreover, large trophy fish naturally attract the interest of the general public [16] and they have the potential to shape the rest of aquatic communities through predation [51] and very often represent the bulk of fish biomass [52]. For all the above reasons, the information about large fish must not be omitted in future standardised sampling.

33 European countries are currently using the European Standard or are bound to use it in near future [4]. Despite the fact that the standard is regularly debated by the European Committee for Standardization, there is a risk that such methodology could be implemented without proper evaluation of its potential shortcomings in water bodies where large fish are present. This study highlights that the European Standard underestimates the large fish community. Therefore, we suggest extending the European Standard mesh series with the additional larger mesh sizes used in this study. The large mesh gillnets should be used in water bodies where presence of larger fish species (e.g. bream, carp, European catfish, tench) is expected. The suggested modification to the sampling standard will ensure that the portion of the fish community that is composed of large fish is appropriately sampled and that biomass estimates for whole water bodies are representative of the entire fish community.

Supporting Information

S1 Dataset. Data file. Spreadsheet containing all the data required to reproduce the figures and analyses presented in the manuscript. (XLSX)

S1 Table. Single mesh gillnet catch and effort summary. Summary of gillnet effort (number of nets), sampled area and number of fish recorded in each SMG mesh size, Římov Reservoir, 1999–2003. (DOCX)

S2 Table. Multimesh gillnet catch and effort summary. Summary of the sampling in 2009–2013 in the different water bodies analysed in this study (CZ—Czech Republic, SP—Spain). For each water body, the year of sampling (Year), total gillnet effort (Nets), effort with ESG and LMG nets (ESG nets and LMG nets, respectively), the total number of fish (ESG and LMG fish) and biomass of fish recorded (ESG and LMG biomass in kg) are reported. (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

FishEcU members (<u>www.fishecu.cz/staff-members</u>) assisted with field sampling and fish ageing. J. Garay, J. M. Gómez, A. Ruiz Rodriguez, V. Rodríguez Sánchez, R. Sanchez Carmona, G.A. de Santocildes and A. Monná, helped during sampling of Spanish reservoirs.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: JK JP MP. Performed the experiments: MŠ MP MŘ MM PB MČ MV TJ AMH LE JP JK. Analyzed the data: DR MŠ MP JK. Contributed reagents/ materials/analysis tools: JK. Wrote the paper: MŠ DR JK MP TJ MV MM.

References

- Appelberg M, Berger H-M, Hesthagen T, Kleiven E, Kurkilahti M, Raitaniemi J, et al. Development and intercalibration of methods in nordic freshwater fish monitoring. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 1995; 85: 401–406.
- Argillier C, Caussé S, Gevrey M, Pédron S, Bortoli J, Brucet S, et al. Development of a fish-based index to assess the eutrophication status of European lakes. Hydrobiologia. 2013; 704: 193–211.
- Søndergaard M, Jeppesen E, Jensen JP, Amsinck SL. Water Framework Directive: Ecological classification of Danish lakes. J Appl Ecol. 2005; 42: 616–629.
- CEN. Water quality—Sampling of fish with multi-mesh gillnets (English version prEN 14757:2013). Brussels: European Committee for Standardization; 2005.
- Mehner T. No empirical evidence for community-wide top-down control of prey fish density and size by fish predators in lakes. Limnol Oceanogr. 2010; 55: 203–213.
- Emmrich M, Brucet S, Ritterbusch D, Mehner T. Size spectra of lake fish assemblages: Responses along gradients of general environmental factors and intensity of lake-use. Freshw Biol. 2011; 56: 2316–2333.
- Brucet S, Pédron S, Mehner T, Lauridsen TL, Argillier C, Winfield IJ, et al. Fish diversity in European lakes: Geographical factors dominate over anthropogenic pressures. Freshw Biol. 2013; 58: 1779–1793. doi: <u>10.1002/hep.26538</u> PMID: <u>23728913</u>
- EC. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Parliam. 2000; L327: 1–82.
- Emmrich M, Pédron S, Brucet S, Winfield IJ, Jeppesen E, Volta P, et al. Geographical patterns in the body-size structure of European lake fish assemblages along abiotic and biotic gradients. Jetz W, editor. J Biogeogr. 2014; 41: 2221–2233.
- Prchalová M, Kubečka J, Říha M, Mrkvicka T, Vašek M, Juza T, et al. Size selectivity of standardized multimesh gillnets in sampling coarse European species. Fish Res. 2009; 96: 51–57.
- Olin M, Malinen T, Ruuhijärvi J. Gillnet catch in estimating the density and structure of fish community— Comparison of gillnet and trawl samples in a eutrophic lake. Fish Res. 2009; 96: 88–94.
- Olin M, Malinen T. Comparison of gillnet and trawl in diurnal fish community sampling. Hydrobiologia. 2003; 506–509: 443–449.

- Hansson S, Rudstam LG. Gillnet catches as an estimate of fish abundance: a comparison between vertical gillnet catches and hydroacoustic abundances of Baltic Sea herring (Clupea harengus) and sprat (Sptattus sptattus). Can J Fish Aquat Sci. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada; 1995; 52: 75–83.
- Finstad AG, Jansen P a, Langeland A. Gillnet selectivity and size and age structure of an alpine Arctic char (Salvelinus alpinus) population. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. 2000; 57: 1718–1727.
- Holmgren K, Appelberg M. Size structure of benthic freshwater fish communities in relation to environmental gradients. J Fish Biol. Academic Press Ltd, 24–28 Oval Rd, London Nw1 7dx, England; 2000; 57: 1312–1330.
- Pope KL, Wilde GR, Bauer DL. Maximum size of fish caught with standard gears and recreational angling. Fish Res. 2005; 76: 117–122.
- Achleitner D, Gassner H, Luger M. Comparison of three standardised fish sampling methods in 14 alpine lakes in Austria. Fish Manag Ecol. 2012; 19: 352–361.
- Rudstam LG, Magnuson JJ, Tonn WM. Size Selectivity of Passive Fishing Gear: A Correction for Encounter Probability Applied to Gill Nets. Can J Fish Aquat Sci. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada; 1984; 41: 1252–1255.
- Carol J, García-Berthou E. Gillnet selectivity and its relationship with body shape for eight freshwater fish species. J Appl Ichthyol. 2007; 23: 654–660.
- Hamley JM. Review of Gillnet Selectivity. J Fish Res Board Canada. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada; 1975; 32: 1943–1969.
- Reis E., Pawson M. Fish morphology and estimating selectivity by gillnets. Fish Res. 1999; 39: 263–273.
- Kurkilahti M, Appelberg M, Hesthagen T, Rask M. Effect of fish shape on gillnet selectivity: a study with Fulton's condition factor. Fish Res. 2002; 54: 153–170.
- Psuty I, Borowski W. The selectivity of gill nets to bream (Abramis brama L.) fished in the Polish part of the Vistula Lagoon. Fish Res. 1997; 32: 249–261.
- Kurkilahti M, Rask M. A comparative study of the usefulness and catchability of multimesh gill nets and gill net series in sampling of perch (*Perca fluviatilis* L.) and roach (*Rutilus rutilus* L.). Fish Res. 1996; 27: 243–260.
- Jensen JW. Gillnet selectivity and the efficiency of alternative combinations of mesh sizes for some freshwater fish. J Fish Biol. 1986; 28: 637–646.
- Bonar SA, Contreras-Balderas S, Iles AC. Chapter 9: Converting Nonstandard Fish Sampling Data to Standardized Data. In: Bonar SA, Hubert WA, Willis DW, editors. Standard Methods for Sampling North American Freshwater Fishes. Bethesda, Maryland: American Fisheries Society; 2009. p. 335.
- Jurvelius J, Kolari I, Leskelä A. Quality and status of fish stocks in lakes: gillnetting, seining, trawling and hydroacoustics as sampling methods. Hydrobiologia. 2011. pp. 29–36.
- Begon M, Townsend CR, Harper JL. Life, death and life histories. Ecology: From Individuals to Ecosystems. 4th ed. Oxford: Blackwell publishing; 2009. pp. 89–132.
- Vašek M, Kubečka J, Peterka J, Čech M, Draštík V, Hladík M, et al. Longitudinal and Vertical Spatial Gradients in the Distribution of Fish within a Canyon-shaped Reservoir. Int Rev Hydrobiol. 2004; 89: 352–362.
- Prchalová M, Mrkvička T, Kubečka J, Peterka J, Čech M, Muška M, et al. Fish activity as determined by gillnet catch: A comparison of two reservoirs of different turbidity. Fisheries Research. 2010. pp. 291–296.
- Říha M, Jůza T, Prchalová M, Mrkvička T, Čech M, Draštík V, et al. The size selectivity of the main body of a sampling pelagic pair trawl in freshwater reservoirs during the night. Fish Res. 2012; 128: 56– 60.
- 32. D & L Software Pty Ltd Australia. Des Newman's OziExplorer software version 3.95. 2011.
- Kottelat M, Freyhof J. Handbook of European freshwater fishes. Publications Kottelat (privately published); 2007. p. 646 pp.
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2014.
- Godø OR, Pennington M, Vølstad JH. Effect of tow duration on length composition of trawl catches. Fisheries Research. 1990. pp. 165–179.
- Hjellvik V, Godø OR, Tjøstheim D. Diurnal variation in bottom trawl survey catches: does it pay to adjust? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 2002. pp. 33–48.
- Turunen T, Kurkilahti M, Suuronen P. Gill net catchability and selectivity of whitefish (Coregonus lavaretus L. s.l.): seasonal effect of mesh size and twine diameter. In: Eckmann R, Appenzeller A, Rosch R,

editors. Advances in Limnology 50: Biology and Management of Coregonid Fishes—1996. E Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung; 1998. pp. 429–437.

- Hansen MJ, Schorfhaar RG, Selgeby JH. Gill-Net Saturation by Lake Trout in Michigan Waters of Lake Superior. North Am J Fish Manag. Taylor & Francis; 1998; 18: 847–853.
- Olin M, Kurkilahti M, Peitola P, Ruuhijärvi J. The effects of fish accumulation on the catchability of multimesh gillnet. Fish Res. 2004; 68: 135–147.
- Prchalová M, Mrkvička T, Peterka J, Čech M, Berec L, Kubečka J. A model of gillnet catch in relation to the catchable biomass, saturation, soak time and sampling period. Fish Res. 2011; 107: 201–209.
- Muška M, Tušer M, Frouzová J, Draštík V, Čech M, Jůza T, et al. To migrate, or not to migrate: partial diel horizontal migration of fish in a temperate freshwater reservoir. Hydrobiologia. 2012; 707: 17–28.
- Mehner T, Holmgren K, Lauridsen TL, Jeppesen E, Diekmann M. Lake depth and geographical position modify lake fish assemblages of the European "Central Plains" ecoregion. Freshw Biol. 2007; 52: 2285–2297.
- Garcia XF, Diekmann M, Brämick U, Lemcke R, Mehner T. Correlations between type-indicator fish species and lake productivity in German lowland lakes. J Fish Biol. 2006; 68: 1144–1157.
- 44. Gassner H, Wanzenböck J, Zick D, Tischler G, Pamminger-Lahnsteiner B. Development of a fish based lake typology for natural Austrian lakes >50 ha based on the reconstructed historical fish communities. Int Rev Hydrobiol. 2005; 90: 422–432.
- Říha M, Kubečka J, Vašek M, Seďa J, Mrkvička T, Prchalová M, et al. Long-term development of fish populations in the Římov Reservoir. Fish Manag Ecol. 2009; 16: 121–129.
- 46. Lammens EHRR, Frank-Landman A, McGillavry PJ, Vlink B. The role of predation and competition in determining the distribution of common bream, roach and white bream in Dutch eutrophic lakes. Environ Biol Fishes. Kluwer Academic Publishers; 1992; 33: 195–205.
- Bunn SE, Arthington AH. Basic principles and ecological consequences of altered flow regimes for aquatic biodiversity. Environmental Management. 2002. pp. 492–507. PMID: <u>12481916</u>
- García-Asorey MI, Escati-Peñaloza G, Parma AM, Pascual MA, Marshall CT. Conflicting objectives in trophy trout recreational fisheries: evaluating trade-offs using an individual-based model. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 2011. pp. 1892–1904.
- Vašek M, Prchalová M, Peterka J, Ketelaars HAM, Wagenvoort AJ, Čech M, et al. The utility of predatory fish in biomanipulation of deep reservoirs. Ecol Eng. 2013; 52: 104–111.
- Maury O, Poggiale JC. From individuals to populations to communities: A dynamic energy budget model of marine ecosystem size-spectrum including life history diversity. J Theor Biol. 2013; 324: 52–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2013.01.018 PMID: 23395776
- Carol J, Benito J, Garc E. On the spread of the European catfish (Silurus glanis) in the Iberian Peninsula: first record in the Llobregat river basin. 2007; 26: 169–171.
- Baum JK, Worm B. Cascading top-down effects of changing oceanic predator abundances. Journal of Animal Ecology. 2009. pp. 699–714. doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2656.2009.01531.x</u> PMID: <u>19298616</u>

Paper III

Seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish

SCIENTIFIC **Reports**

Received: 13 October 2016 Accepted: 22 May 2017 Published online: 05 July 2017

OPEN Seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish

Marek Šmejkal^{1,2}, Daniel Ricard¹, Lukáš Vejřík¹, Tomáš Mrkvička^{1,3}, Lucie Vebrová^{1,2}, Roman Baran¹, Petr Blabolil¹, Zuzana Sajdlová¹, Ivana Vejříková¹, Marie Prchalová¹ & Jan Kubečka¹

In polygynandrous mating systems, in which females limit reproductive success, males can increase their success by investing in courtship. Earlier arrival at the spawning ground compared to when females arrive may increase their opportunities in competitive mating systems. In this study, we used passive telemetry to test whether a male minnow known as the asp, Leuciscus aspius, times its arrival at spawning grounds relative to the arrival of females. Males arrived in a model stream approximately five days earlier than females on average and left four to five days later than females over two years. Both sexes performed a daily migration between a staging ground (standing water, low energy costs) and the fluvial spawning ground (high energy costs). Fish abundance peaked twice a day, with a major peak at sunset and a minor peak at sunrise and with the evening peak abundance for males occurring 1 hour 40 minutes earlier than that of females. The number of females on the spawning ground never exceeded the number of males. While the degree of protandry is hypothesized to be influenced by the operational sex ratio (ranging from 0.5 to 1 in our study), our data did not support this theory.

Successful reproduction at least once in each individual's lifetime is crucial for every living organism. Sex-dependent chances of reproduction vary among mating systems and types of parental care^{1, 2}. The most intense competition for mates occurs in the sex that make up the majority of the breeding population and has the higher reproductive potential^{3,4}. In most animal species, females are the sex with the limiting reproductive rate, which favours male intra-sexual competition and active courtship^{5,6}. Strong male competition is especially predominant in mating systems in which males do not participate in parental care or feed females⁷⁻⁹.

In polygynandrous mating systems, males typically exhibit high levels of mate-finding activity to increase their reproductive success⁵. Reproductive gatherings in certain areas help males in their search for females; however, male intra-sexual competition is intense in such systems^{10,11}. Examples of reproductive gatherings in which male success differs considerably among individuals include lek systems and many fish spawning grounds¹²⁻¹⁴. In these mating systems, male behaviours that increase the probability of successful mating are under strong sexual selection¹⁵

Although there are a wide variety of types of reproductive gatherings, we still see common patterns among different mating systems. In species in which mating occurs at the gathering site and that have conventional sex roles, males exhibit protandry, generally arriving at the breeding ground before females during the breeding season¹⁶⁻¹⁸. This early arrival is used to establish intra-sexual hierarchies and territories in many types of reproductive gatherings and lek mating systems, and thus, early arriving males may achieve a higher rank and consequently have access to more females (rank advantage hypothesis)^{16, 19, 20}. Alternatively, protandry may simply result in maximizing the number of mating opportunities by merely allowing males to encounter a higher number of females during the mating season (mate opportunity hypothesis)^{21, 22}. While protandry has positive effects on male fitness, early arrival can reduce survival because harsh environmental conditions are common at the beginning of the mating season^{21, 23, 24}. Finally, a male-biased operational sex ratio should generally promote protandry, as the competition for mates is very high in male-dominated systems²²

The length of the ready-to-mate period is usually sex-specific. While males are prepared to breed over a relatively long period in a given season, female receptivity determines when mating actually occurs^{25, 26}. Therefore, a possibly beneficial strategy for males is to always be ready and wait for the chance to mate^{21, 22, 27}. However, daily energy expenditure by males is high during the reproductive period. In male Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, the energetic costs of mating counterbalance the six-times-higher investment in gonadal development by females^{10, 28}.

¹Institute of Hydrobiology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, České Budějovice, Czech Republic. ²Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic. ³Faculty of Economics, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice, Czech Republic. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to M.Š. (email: mareks1@centrum.cz)

Hence, if the mere presence at the breeding site is costly in comparison to the cost of remaining in the surrounding environment (e.g., due to male competition or a hostile environment), the allocation of energy by males should be aimed at the specific seasonal and daily periods when the chances of encountering a receptive female are the highest²⁹. Furthermore, daily male arrival should be dependent on the current operational sex ratio, and daily protandry should occur especially when the sex ratio is strongly male-biased^{17, 22}.

Here, we studied the sex-specific seasonal and daily aspects of the timing of reproductive migrations in an iteroparous fish, Leuciscus aspius (asp), Cyprinidae, inhabiting European lentic and lotic environments. The asp spawn following a polygynandrous mating system typical for the majority of cyprinid species, and its spawning grounds are restricted to fast flowing rivers^{30, 31}. Males actively search for receptive females in the spawning grounds. The act of spawning consists of one or multiple males vigorously chasing a female and terminates in the simultaneous release of eggs and milt near the surface of the water. The negatively buoyant, adhesive eggs drift in the water current and eventually stick to the stony ground. Asps do not form permanent pairs during spawning, which results in an open contest for receptive females³². There is no parental care, i.e., reproductive costs only involve gonadal development and the energetic costs associated with migration to and movement at the spawning grounds. In the system we studied, the entire reproductively active population migrates daily from the staging ground in a reservoir (standing water, low energy costs) to the spawning ground in a short tributary (fast-flowing water, high energy costs). Such a system represents an ideal model for the study of both seasonal and daily aspects of protandry because all individuals migrate to a space-limited spawning ground ideal for passive telemetric monitoring. In this study, monitoring tiles were used to ensure that the spawning ground is well-defined and the asp do not spawn below the monitoring site. In order to test the male and female difference in timing of arrivals and departures on the spawning ground, 433 males and 316 females were captured and individually tagged with passive integrated transponders (PIT tags) in 2014 and 2015. In subsequent spawning seasons, passive telemetry systems were installed in spatially delimited spawning ground for the month-long spawning season and altogether, 351 tagged individuals from previous years were detected. Timing of individual arrivals and departures on the spawning ground were recorded by the passive telemetry systems.

The goals of this study are specifically to test I) whether males exhibit protandry in their seasonal and daily migration, II) whether males also leave later (both on a daily and seasonal basis) than females, III) whether males time their daily length of stay to the number of females present and IV) whether the degree of daily protandry correlates with the daily operational sex ratio.

Results

Monitoring coverage of the spawning ground. The monitoring sites were significantly different, and the uppermost egg monitoring site was the most used spawning ground (likelihood ratio test: $\chi^2 (df=2) = -359.8$, p < 0.001; mean number of eggs \pm SD - fast 70 \pm 68, medium 40 \pm 46, slow 1 \pm 1). Furthermore, the single likelihood tests demonstrated that the slow site was significantly different than the fast site (Wald test: $\chi^2 (df=1) = 73.4$, p < 0.001) and the medium site (Wald test: $\chi^2 (df=1) = 32.4$, p < 0.001). Based on these results, we conclude that studied reproducing asps had a spatially delimited spawning ground and that the spawners had to pass at least one antenna to enter the spawning ground (Fig. 1).

Seasonal protandry, day of leaving and movement at the spawning ground. Ninety-nine tagged males and 51 tagged females were detected by the antennas in 2015, and 171 males and 101 females were detected in 2016. When present on the spawning ground, males were detected approximately twice as frequently per hour than were females, indicating their higher level of mate-finding activity. Generally, males invested approximately three times as much time to spawning as females in both years (in terms of both hours and days). When measured from the first day of monitoring in a given year, males arrived for the first time at the spawning ground on average five days earlier and left four to five days later than females (Table 1, Fig. 2). The male-female comparisons were almost identical in both seasons despite the fact that we increased the precision of monitoring by deploying a third antenna system in the spawning ground.

Daily protandry, time of leaving, male length of stay and operational sex ratios. The distributions of the daily presence of males and females were significantly different (Rank envelope test, N = 351, p = 0.005), indicating that more males than females arrive before sunset and more females than males arrive at night in relative numbers (Fig. 3).

A Spearman's rank-order correlation revealed a positive relationship between male length of stay and number of females on the spawning ground in the evening period (r_s (38) = 0.394, p = 0.014; Fig. 4), while the relationship was not significant in the morning period (r_s (24) = 0.234, p = 0.271).

The operational sex ratio was male-biased during both the evening and morning periods (evening median = 0.79 with interquartile range IQR = 0.70–0.88, morning median = 0.88, IQR = 0.73–1). Male daily protandry was not correlated with the operational sex ratio during either the evening or morning period (evening period: GLM ratio F = 0.21; df = 1; p = 0.649; morning period: GLM ratio F = 0.01; df = 1; p = 0.649; morning period: GLM ratio F = 0.01; df = 1; p = 0.952).

Discussion

Currently, sex-dependent reproductive timing in fish has been studied mostly in species with a certain level of parental care^{10, 26, 33–35}, whereas investments of species spawning in aggregations with no parental care have not received much scientific attention. However, these mating systems are very suitable for testing protandry – there is no permanent pair formation, and therefore, males should maximize the number of spawning events and the number of acquired females as the reproductive success of males depends solely on the number and quality of eggs he fertilizes³⁶. From this point of view, mating opportunities should increase more steeply with increasing protandry and reproductive activity than in species in which pairs are formed early in the season and in which



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the position of Želivka Reservoir in the Czech Republic (**a**), approximate position of staging ground and transition zone trough which fish migrate (**b**), and detail of monitored spawning ground with the experimental setup (**c**). Placement of antenna systems is indicated by dotted lines. Antennas 1 and 2 were deployed in 2015–2016 and the additional antenna 3 in 2016. Nets guiding asps into antennas are indicated by dot-dashed lines. S M and F represent sites for asp egg monitoring in 2016 where 4 tiles were placed at each site (S - slow, M - medium and F - fast current). Arrow shows the direction of flow. The figure was generated by the software ArcMap, version 10.2.2⁵³.

		Mean		Median		Q1		Q ₃				
Variable	Season	М	F	М	F	М	F	М	F	Wilcoxon	N	Р
Detections per hour	2015	27	15	18	15	14	12	22	17	1640.0	150	<0.001
	2016	55	25	28	25	22	19	46	30	6342.0	272	<0.001
	2015	44	17	33	17	16	11	70	23	1331.5	150	<0.001
riours	2016	67	17	53	14	31	9	90	22	1928.0	272	<0.001
Dave	2015	10	3	9	3	6	2	14	4	798.5	150	<0.001
Days	2016	11	3	10	2	7	2	14	3	1563.0	272	<0.001
A - 11 N	2015	7	13	6	15	2	7	13	17	3794.0	150	<0.001
Arrival day No.	2016	14	19	14	17	11	16	16	20	13154.0	272	<0.001
Dementure dev No	2015	20	16	19	17	17	16	22	18	1460.5	150	<0.001
Departure day No.	2016	27	22	27	20	22	17	33	24	4788.0	272	< 0.001

Table 1. Summary of movement at the spawning ground, seasonal protandry and times of leaving in the 2015 and 2016 seasons. Mean values, medians, first (Q_1) and third quartiles (Q_3) , values from the one-sided Wilcoxon rank-sum test, sample sizes (N) and p-values are presented in the table. Significant p-values are given in bold.

surplus paternity can be achieved only by mating with subsequently acquired females during the season or via extra pair paternity^{37, 38}. In our study, high male investments into reproduction are demonstrated by their length of stay and by their greater movement at the spawning ground.

Over the course of the spawning season, asp males preceded females by five days on average in their seasonal arrival time and left four to five days later. Because fish sex can only be ascertained with certainty during the

85







Figure 3. The male and female presence on the spawning ground in 24-hour cycles starting at the lowest observed attendance (**a**), and the rank envelope test comparing general fish presence with female presence at the spawning ground (**b**). In the upper panel, the weighted male and female curves were standardized to the same height for better comparison. Moving average with 30-minute interval was used for the plot. Male and female peaks of presence are indicated by dotted lines. Division between morning and evening period defined as points with the lowest abundance is indicated by dot-dashed line and by starting time of the plot. In the lower panel, any departure of the data from the global envelope proves the rejection of the null hypothesis that the female curve is the same as male curve. The light grey area demonstrates the shift between sunset and sunrise during the monitoring period.





spawning season³⁹, individual fish were tracked in the spawning season following tagging to avoid any influences of electrofishing and manipulation on their spawning behaviour. Although this enabled us to precisely analyse the sex-specific differences in both seasonal and daily arrival times, the analyses are biased towards experienced individuals as their first spawning season could not be monitored because of the nature of our methodology. Young individuals may not time their arrival to the spawning ground as precisely as experienced fish, as has been demonstrated in pike, *Esox lucius*⁴⁰. The tagging of juveniles and subsequent sex determination based on behaviour at the spawning ground may shed light on any differences between inexperienced and experienced spawners.

The longer period of activity at the spawning ground by males should favour protandry, as has been assumed in a model for salmon⁴¹. This requirement of protandry is fulfilled in the asp mating system, in which males stay at the spawning ground for 10 days on average, which is three times longer than females stay. Male departure is most likely determined by exhaustion and a lack of milt. We do not think that protandry in asps is driven by the differential susceptibility hypothesis, which postulates that the larger sex arrives first due to its greater resistance to harsh environmental conditions⁴². Asp males are generally smaller than females (see the lengths of tagged males and females in the methods section), and hence, the larger female body size would predict that females, not males, should arrive earlier in the spawning season. Instead, we believe that sexual selection drives the male arrival strategy and their length of stay at the spawning ground.

Research on seasonal protandry has provided evidence that this phenomenon may positively affect male fitness in several ways. Protandry may result in a higher number of sired offspring because early-arriving females are commonly in prime body condition and may produce more offspring than late-arriving females^{11,43}. In mating systems where pairs are formed early in the season, the early-arriving male may form more than one pair in the mating season²¹ or may achieve more offspring via extra-pair paternity³⁷. Additionally, early-acquired offspring may have higher chances of survival, possibly giving the offspring higher chances of being recruited into the breeding population⁴⁴. Furthermore, greater seasonal protandry should be favoured when female arrival is protracted⁴¹. This was indeed the case in our study, which showed that the spawning season lasted for approximately one month in both years, while the average female spent only three days in the spawning ground. However, we do not have individual mating success data, and hence, further research is needed to reveal the consequences of early seasonal arrival for individual males.

Protandry may have positive effects on fitness not only seasonally but also daily. In Dawson's burrowing bees, males are active early in the day and search for later-emerging females⁴⁵. In the asp mating system studied here, the proximity of standing water and the requirement of a fluvial spawning ground presents an energetic trade-off, which likely results in daily migration between the spawning ground, with its associated high energetic costs. And the standing water, with its lower associated energetic costs. Males arriving earlier to the spawning ground may encounter more opportunities to mate with newly ovulating females. Although we have no data on the duration of ovulation in females, many females spent very little time in the spawning ground, suggesting that this period was most likely very closely related to the actual female spawning time. Hence, it would indeed be advantageous for males to arrive before females on a daily basis. Our data demonstrate that males. Although the daily data may suggest a certain mismatch between male and female presence, we have to emphasize that the actual estimated number of females never exceeded the number of males at the spawning ground.

The daily pattern of fish presence, with evening and morning peaks, may be driven by internal mechanisms similar to those found to synchronize spawning in goldfish *Carassius auratus* reviewed in Sorensen & Wisenden³⁶. In the goldfish mating system, fish are reported to spawn from morning to noon, whereas asp spawning activity was observed throughout day and night, with an uneven number of spawners and with the highest effort around sunset and sunrise. Asp females spent an average of six hours at the spawning ground and paid it three visits, possibly temporarily running out of eggs ready for ovulation during each visit. The relative synchrony of these

female visits seemed to create the distinct peaks of female spawning activity. Hence, male timing should take into account the high number of mating chances at these hours but should also consider the other periods of the day where there are more limited chances to mate.

While males adjusted their length of stay according to the number of females in the spawning ground, the actual increase in time was not very large and was only significant in the evening period. We assume that males were limited by milt storage in their sperm ducts during the periods with many females due to excessive mating and eventually returned to the staging ground to restore the necessary amount of milt⁴⁶.

Because fish capture was strongly dependent on their reproductive activity (fish captured in the staging ground were present or future active spawners), our day-to-day catches reflect the operational sex ratio better than the adult sex ratio in the asp population. Due to the very short-term presence of females compared to that of males, the adult sex ratio could be more reliably assessed only based on recaptures in the following spawning season. Hence, the adult sex ratio could be estimated only for 2014 and 2015, when it was 0.47 and 0.42, respectively³². However, females are likely to skip a spawning season^{9, 47}, which may consequently cause the overestimation of the number of females in the system due to their relatively lower recapture rate compared with that of males. For these reasons, we instead used the operational sex ratio in our analyses.

Conclusions

In animal species in which the male has a higher potential reproductive rate and does not provide any parental care, it is the male who has to invest more energy in courting behaviours. Our study presents field evidence of the seasonal and daily aspects of protandry in asps. To our knowledge, this study provides the first evidence of daily protandry in a vertebrate, the extent of which seems not to be driven by changes in the operational sex ratio at the breeding ground.

Materials and Methods

Study site. The study was conducted in the largest water-supply reservoir in Central Europe, Želivka Reservoir, which is located at 49°57′84″ N, 15°25′16″ E in the Czech Republic. The reservoir has one large inlet, the Želivka River. A weir located on the river just above the reservoir blocks further upstream migration and restricts asp spawning to a 100-m long and, on average, 22-m wide stream site (Fig. 1). The bottom of the transition zone between the standing water and the upstream spawning site consists of clay deposits that are unsuitable for asp spawning and egg development.

Fish capture, tagging and migration recording. Individual spawning asps were captured at the staging ground using an electrofishing boat (electrofisher EL 65 II GL DC, Hans Grassel, Schönau am Königsee, Germany, 13 kW, 300/600 V) from 26 March to 3 April 2014 and from 4 to 11 April 2015. The fish were anaesthetized with benzocaine, and their total length (TL), sex and weight were recorded. The males were distinguished based on milt release during the tagging period, breeding tubercles and a slender body, whereas females had no tubercles, a robust body and predominantly released eggs at the end of the tagging period. After removing 3–4 scales, a 4–5 mm vertical incision was made 3 cm posterior to the pelvic fin, and a PIT tag (Oregon RFID, half-duplex, length 32 mm, diameter 3.65 mm, weight 0.8 g, ISO 11784/11785 compatible) was inserted into the body cavity. No sutures were used to close the incision, according to a previously described cyprinid tagging methodology^{48,49}. The tagged individuals were released immediately after recovery from anaesthesia. Altogether, 221 males (597 mm TL \pm 53 mm SD) and 135 females (635 \pm 75 mm) were tagged in 2014, and 212 males (565 \pm 42) and 181 females (595 \pm 62) were tagged in 2015. The tagged individuals represented a substantial part of the mature asp population in the studied reservoir; the population size of spawning individuals, based on mark-recapture estimates, was 979 males and 1107 females in 2014³².

The movements of the tagged individuals were monitored via passive telemetry using Oregon RFID antenna systems (LF HDX RFID readers). The PIT tag is energized each time a fish passes the antenna and then emits an individual code that is recorded and stored together with the date and time. Two (three in 2016) RFID antennas were installed in the main tributary of the Želivka Reservoir 50 m apart (Fig. 1), and their time settings were synchronized. The first and second antenna systems were installed in the downstream and middle sections of the spawning ground, respectively, and in 2016, a third antenna was installed in close proximity to the weir to increase the coverage and probability of fish detection at the spawning ground. The river topography allowed us to only cover half of the river, so we guided the asp to swim through the 10-m wide antennas using nets with a 40-mm mesh size (Fig. 1). Fast currents prevented the installation of guiding nets and their attachment to the third antenna, so one guiding net was attached to the island only, and hence, fish could swim close to the left bank to the river without being detected. The system recording frequency was set to 10 energize/receive cycles s⁻¹, and the systems were tested daily to ensure that they were scanning their entire detection range. Monitoring began prior to the beginning of asp spawning (25 March 2015 and 16 March 2016) and continued until the majority of the tasp disappeared from the spawning ground (21 April 2015 and 22 April 2016).

Monitoring of asp eggs. We monitored egg density on standardized concrete tiles (Fig. 1) to delimit the size of the spawning ground in 2016. A hole was drilled in the centre of each tile, which was then attached to a rope with a float to facilitate monitoring. At three sites in the spawning ground, a total of 12 concrete tiles (40×40 cm) were deployed. The surrounding spawning substrate consisted of large stones and pebbles. The depth and length profile was measured at each site, and water flow was estimated as fast (34 ± 9 cm s⁻¹), medium (27 ± 7 cm s⁻¹) or slow (16 ± 4 cm s⁻¹) for each egg monitoring site based on the daily total water flow data recorded by the river authority (Povodí Vltavy). The tiles were checked daily for new eggs at 8 am and 7 pm, and eggs were removed after being counted.

The field sampling and experimental protocols used in this study were performed in accordance with the guidelines of and with permission from the Experimental Animal Welfare Commission under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (Ref. No. CZ 01679). All methods were approved by the Experimental Animal Welfare Commission under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic.

Data analysis. Monitoring coverage of the spawning ground. We first tested whether asps had to pass at least one antenna to reach the main spawning ground. The counts of new eggs from the three monitoring sites (Fig. 1) were used as a sign of the extent of the spawning ground, and the total number of eggs on each tile was used for the statistical analysis. Among-site comparisons were then performed using a generalized linear model assuming that egg numbers followed a Poisson distribution. The logit link was used in the Poisson model.

Seasonal protandry, day of leaving and movement at the spawning ground. Fish that were tagged and detected in the same season were excluded from the analysis due to a possible negative influence of the tagging procedure on their behaviour. Hence, fish tagged in 2014 were analysed in the spawning seasons of 2015 and 2016, and fish tagged in 2015 were analysed in the spawning season of 2016. Each fish recorded by the antennas was defined as a potential spawner. A properly installed antenna may achieve $97 \pm 1.5\%$ detectability of 32-mm tags, where missed detection may be the result of a high swimming speed and swimming in a group, or a parallel orientation of the tag to the antenna⁵⁰. Therefore, it is possible for fish to leave the spawning ground without being detected lastly by antenna 1. Hence, we used merged detections by all antennas as a proxy for individual presence at the spawning ground and to avoid the misinterpretation of sequential records from antennas. Thanks to their active mating system where the fish frequently swam over the entire range of the spawning ground and do not occupy territories³², fish were frequently recorded by antennas when considered as present (see results above).

In the seasonal analysis, we tested for sex-specific differences in spawning effort and specifically whether males exhibit greater mate-finding effort and are seasonally protandric by analysing the follow variables: the detection frequency per hour, the hours and days detected at the spawning ground, and the first and last day of detection (on a scale, using the number of monitoring days in a given year). To simplify the tested variables, a single detection in an hour/day was defined as sufficient to count the fish as present in the given hour/day. The detection frequency per hour was calculated from the hours in which the individual was detected at the spawning ground. Statistical comparisons were conducted using a non-parametric one-sided Wilcoxon rank-sum test. Bonferroni corrections were applied to the estimated p-values.

Daily protandry, time of leaving, male length of stay and operational sex ratios. Daily protandry was defined as an earlier daily presence of males, on average, compared with the presence of females. To test the difference between male and female timing, we used the fish presence data. Individual fish was considered as present on the spawning ground when the time between two subsequent detections did not exceed one hour. A rank envelope test was used to identify the difference between male and female presence distributions⁵¹. A rank envelope test consists of computing simultaneous global envelopes for every functional value. Any departure of the data from the global envelope proves the rejection of the null hypothesis under global significance. Here, the null hypothesis was that both presence functions would follow the same distribution.

Asp presence had a clear bimodal pattern around sunset and sunrise (Fig. 3). Hence, we defined the two main spawning periods (peaking at sunset and sunrise) for use in GLM tests as the periods between the two points with the lowest abundance. Within these two periods (further referred to as evening and morning according to the peaks of activity), the times of arrival and leaving were defined as the times of first and last detection within the period range, respectively. Because migration peaked around sunset and sunrise and the day length changed during the spawning season, we expressed the arrival and leaving times as the difference from the time the sun set (sunrise for the morning peak). To test whether male length of stay depends on the number of females in the spawning ground, we used a Spearman rank-order correlation coefficient in order to eliminate the effect of distant measurements and to avoid the normality assumption. The number of hours that individual males were present was related to the number of females present in a given daily period. The analysis was performed separately for the evening and morning periods. In this and subsequent analysis, we used a subset of data with at least three females in the tested period to analyse a relatively representative estimate of reproductive period.

Finally, we tested whether the degree of protandry (differential value between individual male and average female arrival times) depends on the operational sex ratio in a given period using a GLM analysis, where fish ID was included as a random variable. Protandry was calculated for each male as the difference between his arrival time and the mean female arrival time in a given period. For the computation of operational sex ratio, we assumed that all fish present on the spawning ground are ready to mate. Operational sex ratio was computed as the fraction of the number of males and females present on the spawning ground within the given day period where these numbers were first corrected for the unequal number of tagged males and females arrived over the season and sex ratio in the population.

Statistical analyses were performed using Statistica software (Statistica, Inc., StatSoft, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA) and R software version 3.2.3⁵².

References

- Kvarnemo, C. & Ahnesjö, I. The dynamics of operational sex ratios and competition for mates. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 11, 404–408 (1996).
 Weir, L. K., Grant, J. W. A. & Hutchings, J. A. The influence of operational sex ratio on the intensity of competition for mates. *Am.*
- Nat. 177, 167-176 (2011).
- Clutton-Brock, T. H. & Vincent, A. C. Sexual selection and the potential reproductive rates of males and females. Nature 351, 58–60 (1991).
- 4. Forsgren, E., Amundsen, T., Borg, A. A. & Bjelvenmark, J. Unusually dynamic sex roles in a fish. Nature 429, 551-4 (2004).
- 5. Parker, G. A. Courtship persistence and female-guarding as male time investment strategies. Behaviour 48, 157-183 (1974).

- 6. Trivers, R. Social evolution. (Cummings Publishing, 1985).
- 7. Gwynne, D. T. Sexual difference theory: mormon crickets show role reversal in mate choice. Science 213, 779–780 (1981).
- Balmford, A., Rosser, A. M. & Albon, S. D. Correlates of female choice in resource-defending antelope. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 31, 107–114 (1992).
- Székely, T., Weissing, F. J. & Komdeur, J. Adult sex ratio variation: Implications for breeding system evolution. J. Evol. Biol 27, 1500–1512 (2014).
- Jonsson, N., Jonsson, B. & Hansen, L. P. Energetic cost of spawning in male and female Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). J. Fish Biol. 39, 739–744 (1991).
- 11. Huse, G. Sex-specific life history strategies in capelin (Mallotus villosus)? Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55, 631-638 (1998).
- 12. Robertson, D. R. In The Ecology of Fishes on Coral Reefs (ed. Sale, P.) 356-386 (Academic Press LTD, 1993).
- Garant, D., Dodson, J. J. & Bernatchez, L. A genetic evaluation of mating system and determinants of individual reproductive success in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). J. Hered 92, 137–45 (2001).
- 14. Höglund, J. & Alatalo, R. V. Leks. (Princetown University Press, 1995).
- 15. Ahnesjö, I., Forsgren, E. & Kvarnemo, C. In Fish behaviour 303-336 (2008).
- 16. Morbey, Y. E. & Ydenberg, R. C. Protandrous arrival timing to breeding areas: a review. Ecol. Lett. 4, 663-673 (2001).
- Morbey, Y. E., Coppack, T. & Pulido, F. Adaptive hypotheses for protandry in arrival to breeding areas: a review of models and empirical tests. J. Ornithol. 153, 207–215 (2012).
- Wiklund, C., Lindfors, V. & Forsberg, J. Early male emergence and reproductive phenology of the adult overwintering butterfly Gonepteryx rhamni in Sweden. Oikos 75, 227–240 (1996).
- Windle, M. J. S. & Rose, G. A. Do cod form spawning leks? Evidence from a Newfoundland spawning ground. Mar. Biol. 150, 671–680 (2007).
- Apollonio, M., De Cena, F., Bongi, P. & Ciuti, S. Female preference and predation risk models can explain the maintenance of a fallow deer (*Dama dama*) lek and its 'handy' location. *PLoS One* 9 (2014).
- Morbey, Y. E. Pair formation, pre-spawning waiting, and protandry in kokanee. Oncorhynchus nerka. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 54, 127-135 (2003).
- Kokko, H., Gunnarsson, T. G., Morrell, L. J. & Gill, Ja Why do female migratory birds arrive later than males? J. Anim. Ecol 75, 1293–1303 (2006).
- Møller, A. P. Phenotype-dependent arrival time and its consequences in a migratory bird. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 35, 115–122 (1994).
 Olsson, M. & Madsen, T. Costs of mating with infertile males selects for late emergence in female sand lizards (*Lacerta agilis L.*). *Copeia* 2, 462–464 (1996).
- 25. Schulz, R. W. & Miura, T. Spermatogenesis and its endocrine regulation. Fish Physiol. Biochem 26, 43-56 (2002).
- Dahl, J. et al. The timing of spawning migration: implications of environmental variation, life history, and sex. Can. J. Zool. 82, 1864–1870 (2004).
- 27. Morbey, Y. Protandry in Pacific salmon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57, 1252-1257 (2000).
- Jonsson, N., Jonsson, B. & Hansen, L. P. Partial segregation in the timing of migration of Atlantic salmon of different ages. Anim. Behav. 40, 313–321 (1990).
- 29. Iwasa, Y. & Obara, Y. A game model for the daily activity schedule of the male butterfly. J. Insect Behav. 2, 589-608 (1989).
- Křížek, J. & Vostradovský, J. Population dynamics of the rapacious carp (Aspius aspius L.) in the Želivka Reservoir in 1972–1992. 4th Int. Conf. Reserv. Limnol. water Qual. České Budějovice, Czech Republic, B. Abstr. 180–182 (2002).
- Hladík, M. & Kubečka, J. Fish migration between a temperate reservoir and its main tributary. Hydrobiologia 504, 251–266 (2003).
 Šmejkal, M. et al. Population size, age structure and spawning dynamics of asp (Leuciscus aspius) in Želivka Reservoir (in Czech). (2016).
- Berglund, A., Rosenqvist, G. & Svensson, I. Reproductive success of females limited by males in two pipefish species. *The American Naturalist* 133, 506 (1989).
- 34. Croft, D. P. et al. Sex-biased movement in the guppy (Poecilia reticulata). Oecologia 137, 62-68 (2003).
- 35. Rios-Cardenas, O. & Webster, M. S. Paternity and paternal effort in the pumpkinseed sunfish. Behav. Ecol. 16, 914–921 (2005).
- 36. Sorensen, P. W. & Wisenden, B. D. Fish Pheromones and Related Cues. Fish Pheromones and Related Cues (Wiley Blackwell, 2015).
- 37. Canal, D., Jovani, R. & Potti, J. Multiple mating opportunities boost protandry in a pied flycatcher population. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **66**, 67–76 (2012).
- Møller, A. P., Balbontín, J., Cuervo, J. J., Hermosell, I. G. & De Lope, F. Individual differences in protandry, sexual selection, and fitness. *Behav. Ecol* 20, 433–440 (2009).
- Mei, J. & Gui, J. F. Genetic basis and biotechnological manipulation of sexual dimorphism and sex determination in fish. Science China Life Sciences 58, 124–136 (2015).
- Tibblin, P., Forsman, A., Borger, T. & Larsson, P. Causes and consequences of repeatability, flexibility and individual fine-tuning of migratory timing in pike. J. Anim. Ecol. 85, 136–145 (2016).
- 41. Morbey, Y. E. Protandry models and their application to salmon. Behav. Ecol 13, 337-343 (2002).
- 42. Møller, A. P. Protandry, sexual selection and climate change. Glob. Chang. Biol 10, 2028-2035 (2004)
- Rajasilta, M. Relationship between food, fat, sexual maturation, and spawning time of Baltic herring (Clupea harengus membras) in the Archipelago Sea. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 49, 644–654 (1992).
- Smith, R. J. & Moore, F. R. Arrival timing and seasonal reproductive performance in a long-distance migratory landbird. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 57, 231–239 (2005).
- Alcock, J. Small males emerge earlier than large males in Dawson's burrowing bee (Amegilla dawsoni) (Hymenoptera: Anthophorini). J. Zool 242, 453–462 (1997).
- 46. Munakata, A. & Kobayashi, M. Endocrine control of sexual behavior in teleost fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 165, 456-468 (2010).
- 47. Rideout, R. M., Rose, G. A. & Burton, M. P. M. Skipped spawning in female iteroparous fishes. Fish Fish. 6, 50-72 (2005).
 - 48. Skov, C. et al. Evaluation of PIT-tagging in cyprinids. J. Fish Biol. 67, 1195-1201 (2005).
 - Hulthén, K. et al. Sex identification and PIT-tagging: Tools and prospects for studying intersexual differences in freshwater fishes. J. Fish Biol. 84, 503–512 (2014).
 - Burnett, N. J., Stamplecoskie, K. M., Thiem, J. D. & Cooke, S. J. Comparison of detection efficiency among three sizes of half-duplex passive integrated transponders using manual tracking and fixed antenna arrays. North Am. J. Fish. Manag 33, 7–13 (2013).
 - Myllymäki, M., Mrkvička, T., Grabarnik, P., Seijo, H. & Hahn, U. Global envelope tests for spatial processes. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B 1–25 (2016).
- 52. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2015).
- Esri. Working with ArcMap. ArcGIS Help 10.2.2. doi:http://resources.arcgis.com/en/help/main/10.2/#/Mapping_ and_ visualization_in_ArcGIS_for_Desktop/018q0000004000000/ (2016).

Acknowledgements

We thank Luboš Kočvara, Tomáš Kolařík, Zdeněk Popelka, Zdeněk Prachař, Vladislav Draštík and Eduard Bouše for their assistance during field work. Further, we thank the river authority Povodí Vltavy for providing water flow data and Vilém Děd for data processing. A special thanks goes to Yolanda Morbey and Christer Brönmark for

their valuable comments on the manuscript. This work was supported by the Norwegian Financial Mechanism 2009–2014 under contract number MSMT-28477/2014 (project number 7F14316). Publication was supported by the program "Diversity of Life and Health of Ecosystems" within the project of the Czech Academy of Sciences "Strategy AV21" (project number 580310/992200), co-financed by the European Social Fund and the state budget of the Czech Republic, by the University of South Bohemia (158/2016/P) and by the Czech Science Foundation (GPP505/12/P647). Daniel Ricard was supported by project CZ.1.07/2.3.00/30.0032 (Promotion of post-doctoral positions in the Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences).

Author Contributions

M.Š., L.V., L.V., R.B., Z.S., P.B., I.V. and J.K. participated in the field work. M.Š. and L.V. designed the study. D.R., T.M., M.P. and M.Š. conducted the statistical analysis. M.Š. wrote the first draft. All authors contributed substantial feedback during manuscript preparation.

Additional Information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at doi:10.1038/s41598-017-04827-x

Competing Interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's note: Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2017

Seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish

Marek Šmejkal^{a,b*}, Daniel Ricard^a, Lukáš Vejřík^a, Tomáš Mrkvička^{a,c}, Lucie Vebrová^{a,b}, Roman Baran^a, Petr Blabolil^a, Zuzana Sajdlová^a, Ivana Vejříková^a, Marie Prchalová^a, Jan Kubečka^a



Supplementary figure 1: Arrival (a) and departure date (b) in 2016 plotted for females (F) and males (M) separately. Lines in panels (a) and (b) represent the percentage of arriving and departing individuals in given day. Open triangles and circles represent individual data points, from which lines were derived.

Paper IV

Early life-history predator-prey reversal in two cyprinid fishes
SCIENTIFIC **Reports**

Received: 14 February 2017 Accepted: 28 June 2017 Published online: 31 July 2017

OPEN Early life-history predator-prey reversal in two cyprinid fishes

Marek Šmejkal^{1,2}, Roman Baran¹, Petr Blabolil¹, Lukáš Vejřík¹, Marie Prchalová¹, Daniel Bartoň^{1,2}, Tomáš Mrkvička^{1,3} & Jan Kubečka¹

Predator-prey relationships are often perceived simply as a situation in which a predator enhances its own fitness while reducing the fitness of its prey. However, this relationship may become reversed when the prey feeds on the juvenile predator stages. We investigated this phenomenon in a model asp (Leuciscus aspius; predator)-bleak (Alburnus alburnus; prey) relationship. The adhesive asp eggs are available for bleak predation after a spawning event for only tens of seconds before they adhere to the stones, where bleak do not forage. Gut content analysis demonstrated that eggs were utilized in high quantities, especially in the spawning peak of the asp reproductive season. Furthermore, using underwater video, we recorded the bleak feeding efficiency on naturally drifting asp eggs as the percentage of eggs eaten. Within the 40 cm egg trajectory captured by our cameras, total egg mortality was 21.2 \pm 2.2% on average. The highest survival chances occurred among eggs drifting in aggregations, since the short drifting distance together with their aggregated distribution satiated bleak and part of the egg aggregation could attach to the spawning ground. This study emphasizes the potential efficiency of predator eqq utilization by prey, which may have further consequences in predator-prey dynamics.

Ectotherm vertebrate predators inhabiting aquatic environments commonly utilize the food web over a wider range throughout their lifetime compared to endotherms, since their initial size is usually much smaller and their growth is indeterminate¹⁻³. Their vertebrate prey is frequently omnivorous, foraging on small organisms⁴. If the prey of such species is able to utilize predators' early life stages, such as eggs and larvae, the predator-prey relationship may become reversed, and predators may be foraged upon by large prey individuals⁵. Since prey is naturally numerous, a considerable proportion may be consumed, especially if a large part of the prey population forages on the early life stages of predators⁵⁻⁷. Considering the small-sized eggs and larvae available in enormous quantities in many fish groups, some prey individuals may consume more predators in their lifetime than an adult predator consumes its prev8-10

The occurrence of predator eggs and larvae is commonly restricted to a short post-spawning period, which is only when such a reversed situation may occur. However, the easy accessibility of this energetically rich food source may lead to a complete switch from the common diet of the prey to predator eggs and offspring, especially when reproduction occurs early in the season when other food sources are scarce^{5, 11,}

In comparison with the long-term dependence of predators on prey availability in predator-prey systems, the short-term predator egg or larvae consumption by prey species likely does not represent a very important food source for the prey. Hence, its absence or low availability would not cause bottom-up limitations in prey populations¹³. This means that the size of the prey population is independent of the egg food source; however, prey may utilize it to a large extent^{14,15}. This can escalate into a positive loop in which high prey abundance may exert high consumption pressure on the early life stages of a predator, which consequently lowers predator recruitment. Hence, numerous prey foraging on their predator may eventually cause considerable changes in the predator-prey dynamics, keeping the predator population low in abundance or triggering more pronounced fluctuations of predators in time^{5, 16, 17}.

Contradicting the simple definitions of predator and prey roles in ecosystems, predator-prey reversal was discovered among many species in recent decades^{14, 18, 19}. In marine benthic communities, rock lobsters, Jasus lalandii, usually represent a keystone predator in diverse ecosystems. However, if its common prey, the whelk (Burnupena sp.), greatly outnumbers the rock lobster, it may result in an alternative stable ecosystem where rock

¹Institute of Hydrobiology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic. ²Faculty of Science, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic. ³Faculty of Economics, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic. Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to M.Š. (email: mareks1@centrum.cz)



Figure 1. The gut content analysis of bleak (upper and middle panel) and electrofishing estimates of number of bleak within sampling transect (lower panel) in 2015. The numbers above the upper histogram represent the sample size for gut content analysis on a given day. Gut fullness is displayed in the middle panel on a scale of 0–5, with a value of 0 representing empty and a value of 5 fully distended. The temperature is shown by the dashed line. Bottom panel displays the total number of eggs (collected from 12 monitoring tiles, 40×40 cm, log 10) and number of bleak in the monitored transect (dashed line).

.....

lobsters are killed by whelks, which dominate in the alternated ecosystem¹⁴. Wizen & Gasith experimentally demonstrated how larvae of the ground beetle *Epomis* sp. lure and kill their anuran predator, which otherwise feeds on many insect species²⁰. It is likely that predator-prey reversal is most common in aquatic environments, where tiny eggs of many predator fishes are vulnerable to predation by other fish species and invertebrates²¹⁻²⁴. This phenomenon is potentially very common among fishes and has possible repercussions in commercially harvested waters as well as in protected species ecology.

To investigate predator-prey role reversal, we used a simple model system of two fish species, the asp (*Leuciscus aspius*; predator) and bleak (*Alburnus alburnus*; prey), which are common cyprinid fishes inhabiting inland waters of Central and Eastern Europe^{25, 26}. The asp is a long-lived, large, iteroparous predator, migrating to fluvial spawning grounds in the early spring, where it spawns above the open substrate and provides no parental care to its eggs and larvae^{26, 27}. The negatively buoyant adhesive eggs are approximately 2 mm in diameter; they are spawned near the water surface and carried by the water current until they adhere to cobbles and stones on the river bottom²⁷. Asps do not forage on prey fishes during the spawning season, and first attacks are observed shortly after the termination of spawning²⁸. The bleak is a small, short-lived species with a superior mouth position, feeding preferably on emerging insects and zooplankton (in standing water) near the water surface^{25, 29, 30}. Adult bleak are oftentimes foraged upon by asps, being their most common prey item^{25, 11, 32}.

In the present study, we investigate predator-prey role reversal in the asp-bleak relationship. Specifically, the goals of this study are to (I) analyse whether and to what extent predator-prey role reversal occurs in the asp-bleak relationship by stomach content analysis, (II) analyse whether egg consumption is dependent on bleak size, (III) establish the relative effectiveness of egg consumption using underwater cameras and (IV) model the relationship between egg survival probability and the batch size of drifting eggs using underwater camera data.

Results

Gut content analysis demonstrated that asp eggs were an important food source for bleak. During the sampled period, 64 out of the 147 caught bleak individuals contained eggs, with a $31 \pm 42\%$ (mean \pm SD) contribution to the total amount of food. Other important food sources in this period were water insects (65 individuals, $34 \pm 44\%$), filamentous algae (54 individuals, $34 \pm 46\%$) and zooplankton (two individuals, $1 \pm 3\%$). The proportion of eaten eggs was independent of bleak size (GLM F = 1.29; df = 1; p = 0.257), and eggs prevailed, especially when their abundance in the environment was high (GLM F = 8.54; df = 22; p < 0.001 Fig. 1). Gut fullness was independent of bleak size (GLM F = 0.23; df = 1; p = 0.635), with a significant effect of the date (GLM F = 1.74; df = 22; p = 0.031; Fig. 1).

2





		No. of bleak				
		1	2	3	4	5
No. of eggs	1	0.574	0.469	0.367	0.275	0.199
	2	0.576	0.471	0.368	0.276	0.200
	3	0.577	0.472	0.369	0.277	0.201
	10	0.587	0.482	0.379	0.286	0.208



One-tailed paired t-test between the average number of bleak and the average number of bleak when at least one egg was drifting in the camera view indicates that bleak were more numerous in the camera view when eggs were drifting (mean \pm SD: 0.69 \pm 0.53 vs. 1.01 \pm 0.80; t (33) = 3.55, p < 0.001; Fig. 2). According to the binomial model, total egg mortality was $21.2 \pm 2.2\%$ and bleak foraging efficiency was $53.6 \pm 3.2\%$ - estimated from recordings when at least one bleak was present in the camera view (within the 0.42 m detection distance of our cameras).

Our logit model, which considers only recordings when eggs were drifting and at least one bleak was within view of the camera, reveals a high probability of eggs being consumed by bleak. The effect of the number of bleak in the model is significant (Wald test χ^2 (N = 1509) = 73.6; p < 0.001). An increasing number of drifting eggs significantly decreased the probability of being eaten for an individual egg, implying an advantage of aggregation (Wald test χ^2 (N = 1509) = 102.3; p < 0.001; Table 1; Fig. 3).

Discussion

In this study, we demonstrated that, due to high foraging efficiency, the reversed predator-prey relationship in the studied case may possibly lead to a considerable reduction in the number of eggs surviving until attachment to the substrate (i.e., first tens of seconds in the stream). The gut content analysis revealed that eggs represented a considerable part of the bleak diet in the studied period, especially during the highest spawning activity of asps. From our video records, the bleak egg-foraging efficiency was very high when eggs passed through the camera view, suggesting considerable predation pressure on the predator's eggs by its prey. Eggs drifting in dense aggregations had a higher probability of survival than those drifting alone or only in small aggregations.

While fish predation on fish eggs has been previously described in many cases (e.g. refs 17, 21, 33 and 34), this seems to be, to our knowledge, the only study in which adhesive eggs are utilized immediately after their release by female fish, before their attachment to the substrate. Commonly studied systems are pelagic or benthic environments, where eggs may be utilized by an egg-eating organism throughout the egg development period^{22, 34-36}, and hence the foraging fish may consume an enormous part of the egg production^{15, 37}. Despite the short time available, bleak have been shown to utilize the eggs of its predator to a considerable extent. In 2016, the monitoring site was shifted lower due to the presence of air bubbles near the weir, and hence some of the eggs spawned below the weir could have adhered to the substrate before reaching the monitoring site. Hence, we cannot accurately estimate the total predation pressure on asp eggs by bleak, as it is very likely that their survival in the drifting stage may be higher in the uppermost part of the spawning ground, where the drifting aggregations may be



Figure 3. The 3D visualization of the relationship among number of eggs (log 10), number of bleak and percentage of eaten eggs. Shades of grey indicate modelled percentage of eaten eggs in the given scenario (the lowest number of eaten eggs – dark grey, the highest – light grey).

denser. We assume that adhered eggs are probably safe from the predation of bleak, which are adapted to foraging near the water surface and do not utilize benthic food sources^{25, 29, 30}. We never observed sand or gravel in the bleak gut content analysis, which would otherwise indicate utilizing eggs that had adhered to the substrate (eggs were oftentimes covered with sand particles on monitoring tiles).

In our model, we demonstrated the advantage of drifting in dense aggregations, where there is a higher survival probability for individual eggs. Due to the short drifting period of asp eggs (tens of seconds), aggregation may minimize the individual chances of being chosen by bleak^{38–40}.

Female asp specific fecundity is somewhere between 27,500 and 58,500 eggs per kg of body weight, and females appear to release large quantities of eggs in each spawning event⁴¹. Despite the observed advantage of drifting in aggregations, most of the eggs were recorded singly, and if they appeared simultaneously, it was in very low numbers. They were likely spawned further upstream from the camera position and were diluted by the current before reaching our monitoring site. Alternatively, it is possible that some of those eggs were not actually freshly spawned but eggs that had been detached from the substrate by the strong water current. Those eggs may not be able to settle in a suitable fluvial environment due to the deactivation of the sticky glycoprotein layer with time, and hence they might not survive even if not consumed by bleak⁴². However, we could not discern between detached eggs and scattered freshly spawned eggs in our video records. Given the circumstances, the impact on recruitment may not be as severe as it appears from the bleak egg-consumption efficiency, since some of the eggs may be considered lost when detached from their optimal substrate. On the other hand, the total drifting distance before adhesion to the substrate will influence egg survival. Our estimate of egg survival was computed for the short drifting distance in the camera view, while the actual drifting distance may be several metres²⁸. Hence, the proportion of eaten eggs could be considerably higher.

Although we have been counting the number of bleak in the monitored transect in 2015, bleak number seemed to not be strongly related to the egg availability inferred from the monitoring tiles (e.g. high egg abundance did not correspond with high bleak abundance). We believe that this discrepancy may be caused by the transect location: to protect the main spawning site, electrofishing was performed in the lower part of the tributary. Hence, the large number of bleak visually observed in the uppermost part could not be reached by electrofishing.

While we assume that the consumption of asp eggs is necessarily influencing recruitment, it may actually not be so straightforward⁹. Once entering the feeding regime, the early life stages may be limited by density-dependent processes, and the bleak-consumed part of the eggs may not influence actual recruitment, since the survivors may have higher food abundance due to decreased competition and hence higher condition, growth rate and survival⁴³. Especially if we consider as successful reproduction offspring that actually reach the reproductive age (4–5 years in asps)²⁸, there may not be a difference between bleak-limited and bleak-non-limited recruitment. However, a case study of reproductive success in the common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*, in a lake system in the Mississippi river basin demonstrated that small omnivorous fish effectively control carp recruitment by feeding on eggs and larvae. Carp recruitment was high only in lakes where small omnivorous fish were nearly absent due to winterkills by hypoxia⁴⁴. Similar to our study, a large number of eggs was found in stomachs of egg-feeding species, and eggs disappeared from the spawning ground due to excessive egg-feeding by omnivores³⁷.

Although the observed predator-prey reversal in the asp-bleak relationship was demonstrated in only one ecosystem, it is likely a very common phenomenon due to the reproductive migration of both species. Asp migration to the fluvial spawning ground is shortly followed by bleak migration into similar spawning grounds, where it spawns few weeks after the asp¹⁵. Hence, the first bleak migrants into the stream encounter an abundance of fat-rich food represented by asp eggs⁴⁶.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the spawning ground located downstream of the weir. The space between the weir (0, solid lines) and the dotted line represents the estimated spawning ground²⁷. Electrofishing was performed within a 50 m transect visualized by the rectangle. Dot-dashed lines represent position of video monitoring sites for 2015 (site no. 1) and 2016 (site no. 2). Within each site symbolized by camera illustration, three cameras were placed randomly. At sites no. 1, 2 and 3, water velocity was computed using daily mean water discharge data. Four monitoring tiles were deployed at each site, and eggs were counted and removed daily. Arrow shows the direction of flow. The figure was generated by the software ArcMap, version 10.2.2⁵¹.

To conclude, we demonstrated in this study a very high prey foraging efficiency on predator eggs, which may have further consequences on the predator-prey dynamics. This study seems to be the first describing the impacts of egg-eating predators on the eggs of lithophilic spawners before adhesion to the substrate. Further, we provide a basic model showing that in this predator-prey reversed relationship; egg aggregation provides survival benefits for individual eggs. We believe that future research should focus on the assessment of the damage done to asp eggs by bleak and the benefits for prey species. In addition, and most importantly, does the reversed predation influence predator recruitment and to what extent?

Materials and Methods

Study site. The study was conducted in the main tributary of the Želivka Reservoir, located at 49°578497' N, 15°251671' E, Czech Republic. The reservoir is 39.1 km long with an area of 1602 ha at a maximum water level of 381.7 m above sea level. Approximately 2000 asps migrate from the reservoir to spawn in the early spring (mid-March to mid-April) and release a vast amount of eggs and milt into a 100 m long tributary within a one-month long spawning period^{28,47}. Further upstream, the migration is restricted by a weir, and downstream, spawning is limited by an inadequate water current and the substrate composition; hence, spawning along with egg predation can be monitored within the short study site²⁷. Thousands of bleak individuals were repeatedly observed in the tributary at the peak of the spawning period. This seems to be the most abundant egg-eating species in this system²⁸. Hence, we focus here on this species, although other potential egg-eating species were also observed (see bleak electrofishing below).

Bleak electrofishing and gut content analysis. Electrofishing was performed from 25 March to 19 April 2015 daily at 3 p.m. by an electrofishing boat (electrofisher EL 65 II GL DC, Hans Grassel, Schönau am Königsee, Germany, 13 kW, 300/600 230 V). Due to rainy weather conditions, sampling was not conducted on three days (2, 6 and 7 April) due to safety reasons. A 50 m long and 6 m wide transect was sampled (Fig. 4). Electrofishing was not performed further upstream in order to not damage the major spawning ground undergoing long-term monitoring.

Due to the fragile nature of bleak and the long-term sampling schedule, we decided to only count bleak to avoid damaging a large number of egg-eating individuals by hand nets (bleak scales are very easy to remove during handling). The number of bleak and other omnivorous fish species was estimated each day within the defined transect. In total, 9,589 bleak, 133 roach (*Rutilus rutilus*) and 76 bream (*Abramis brama*) were recorded. A subsample of bleak within the transect (5–11 individuals) was measured (nearest mm), weighed (nearest 0.1 g) and collected for gut analysis (standard length 108 ± 14 mm, weight 13.9 ± 6.0 g, mean \pm standard deviation (SD)) during every electrofishing day (total sample: 147 bleak individuals). Fish were anaesthetised using a lethal dose of MS–222 and immediately processed in the field laboratory. A gut fullness index was assigned to each individual fish on a scale of 0 to 5; 0 indicating empty and 5 fully distended^{48,49}. Gut content was classified into four food categories: asp eggs, filamentous algae, water insects and zooplankton. The relative volume of each food category was estimated visually as a percentage of the total gut content volume of each gut.

Monitoring of asp eggs. We monitored the egg density on standardized concrete tiles (Fig. 4) to assess the main asp spawning period. A hole was drilled in the centre of each tile, which was then attached to a rope with a float to facilitate monitoring. At three sites on the spawning ground, a total of 12 concrete tiles, 40×40 cm, were deployed. The surrounding spawning substrate consisted of large stones and pebbles. The tiles were checked daily at 7 p.m. for new eggs and were cleaned after eggs were counted.

Egg detection efficiency in video records. In order to reveal whether an observer is able to detect all eggs drifting in the camera view, an experiment was conducted on the studied site from 8 to 9 April 2017. Random number of asp eggs (0–35) was released upstream from the camera position so the eggs drifted in the camera view. Altogether, 100 replicates were performed. Egg detection efficiency was evaluated using double-blind

5

methodology. The observer of the video had no prior knowledge of the number of released eggs and the same person analysed all records obtained in this study. Egg detection efficiency was estimated to be $98.05 \pm 4.40\%$ based on a comparison of counted vs. released numbers of asp eggs.

Video monitoring. Asp spawning activity was visually observed each day and inferred from the number of eggs on the monitoring tiles. Three underwater cameras (Epoque Edivecam, Epoque World Co., Ltd., Japan) were randomly placed around monitoring sites oriented downstream to record bleak foraging on days when bleak presence at the spawning ground was visually observed and asps exhibited high spawning activity (10–12 April 2015 and 5–11 April 2016, Fig. 4). Cameras were mounted on the holder with weights and their detection range covered approximately the upper two-thirds of the water column. The distance at which bleak and eggs could be identified was 42 ± 3 cm (mean \pm SD, estimated for each recording day). Recording occurred between 1 and 3 p.m. Altogether, three underwater videos (total time 02:51:45 (hh:mm:ss)) were recorded in 2015, and 31 videos (total time 29:40:45) were recorded in 2016. Our methodology was limited by air bubbles originating from the presence of the weir in 2016, which prevented the use of cameras directly below the weir, and in 2015 due to higher water discharge (Fig. 4).

Water temperature and discharge. Along with fish monitoring, two data loggers (TidbiT v2, Onset, USA) measuring water temperature were placed in the tributary and recorded the temperature with hourly frequency in 2015 and 2016. To demonstrate slowdown of the water current contributing to the egg adhesion to the substrate, we computed water discharge for three consecutive sites along the spawning ground profile. The water velocity was estimated to be $22 \pm 6 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$ and $34 \pm 9 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$ (mean \pm SD; 2015 and 2016 seasons, respectively) at the first site, $18 \pm 5 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$ and $27 \pm 7 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$ at the second site and $11 \pm 3 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$ and $16 \pm 4 \text{ cm s}^{-1}$ at the third monitoring site (Fig. 4). The estimates are based on daily data on total water discharge provided by the river authority (Povodí Vltavy, s.p.).

Ethics. The field sampling and experimental protocols used in this study were performed in accordance with the guidelines of and with permission from the Experimental Animal Welfare Commission under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic (Ref. No. CZ 01679). All methods were approved by the Experimental Animal Welfare Commission under the Ministry of Agriculture of the Czech Republic.

Video analysis. The video records were used to estimate the capture efficiency of bleak. Bleak were analysed only in records where they were close enough to be discerned from different species inhabiting the studied system. In each video, every recording in which one or more separate eggs (further referred to as aggregation) were drifting was noted, along with the number of bleak within camera view and the number of successfully eaten eggs by bleak. A bleak was counted as present when it was clearly identified and at least its head was visible in the camera view (e.g., more than half of the bleak without its head in view was not counted as present, while only the head being visible was counted as present). The number of bleak in the camera view was counted every 15 seconds to estimate the bleak presence in the given record, and the average was used as a characteristic of each video record. Another average bleak number was calculated for the recordings in which eggs were observed in order to determine whether bleak are attracted by drifting eggs.

Statistical analysis. Two general linear model (GLM) analyses with the explanatory variables bleak length and sampling date were performed to test (I) the proportion of eggs in the total diet and (II) whether gut fullness was dependent on the explanatory variables used.

To reveal whether there is a relationship between number of bleak and number of drifting eggs (egg-finding behaviour), one-tailed paired t-test was used. For each video record, the average number of bleak in the camera view in moments when eggs were drifting was computed for each video record and was related to the average number of bleak computed from counts spaced at 15 s intervals. Egg-finding behaviour could be identified by the former value being generally higher than the latter.

To study the probability of eggs being eaten, we can assume that the total number of eaten eggs (X_i) in one observed video follows the binomial distribution with parameters n_i and p, where n_i is the total number of eggs in the *i*th video and p is the probability of eggs being eaten. This assumption means that all eggs are taken as independent observations. This assumption is not satisfied because, for instance, the probability of catching an egg when two eggs are observed in the video differs from catching an egg when one egg is observed. Hence, we separately computed the probability (p_k) for k observed eggs drifting in the video simultaneously. The index k is taken from 1 to 10 only to avoid rare situations when the eggs are observed. In the binomial model $\hat{p}_k^l = X_i^k / n_i^k$, where X_i^k is the number of eaten eggs with k observed eggs in the video and n_i^k is the total number of times the k eggs are observed. In the binomial model, we can easily pool the observations from different samples together because $\sum_i X_i^k$ also has a binomial distribution with parameters $\sum_i n_i^k$ and p_k . In addition, we thus obtain a maximum likelihood estimator of the parameter p_k as $\hat{p}_k = \sum_i X_i^k / \sum_i n_i^k$.

To obtain an estimator of p, we must use the theorem of complete probability, i.e.,

$$\hat{\rho} = \sum_{k} \hat{p}_{k} * \hat{q}_{k} \tag{1}$$

where $\hat{q}_k = \frac{\sum_i n_i^k}{N} (N = \sum_k \sum_i n_i^k)$ is the estimate of the probability of k eggs appearing in the video. This simplifies into

$$\hat{p} = \frac{\sum_k \sum_i X_i^k}{N}$$
(2)

The standard deviation of this estimator can be computed straightforwardly using the fact that $\sum_i n_i^k$ is distributed according to the multinomial distribution. This can be simplified into $\sum_i n_i^k = n^k$ and $\sum_i X_i^k = X^k$. The standard deviation is then computed as

$$SD(\hat{p}) = \sqrt{\sum_{k} \left(\frac{X^{k} n^{k} N - X^{k} (n^{k})^{2} + X^{k} (n^{k})^{2} N - (X^{k})^{2} N^{k} + (X^{k})^{2} n^{k} N - (X^{k} n^{k})^{2}}{(n^{k})^{2} N^{3}} \right)} - 2\sum_{k < l} \frac{X^{k} X^{l}}{N^{3}}$$
(3)

The effect of the number of bleak and the number of eggs in a single video observation on the probability of predation on eggs was further evaluated using a classical logit model. Here, the observations with many eggs (more than 10) were also considered, and the dependence on the number of eggs is here taken into consideration in one factor.

Statistical analyses were performed in Statistica software (Statistica, Inc., StatSoft, Tulsa, Oklahoma, USA) and R software version 3.2.3⁵⁰.

References

- Kozlowski, J. Optimal allocation of resources explains interspecific life-history patterns in animals with indeterminate growth. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 263, 559–566 (1996).
- Hjelm, J., Persson, L. & Christensen, B. Growth, morphological variation and ontogenetic niche shifts in perch (*Perca fluviatilis*) in relation to resource availability. Oecologia 122, 190–199 (2000).
- 3. Sargent, R. C., Taylor, P. D. & Gross, M. R. Parental care and the evolution of egg size in fishes. Am. Nat. 129, 32-46 (1987).
- Brett, M. T. & Goldman, C. R. A meta-analysis of the freshwater trophic cascade. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 93, 7723–7726 (1996).
 Köster, F. W. & Möllmann, C. Trophodynamic control by clupeid predators on recruitment success in Baltic cod? ICES J. Mar. Sci. 57, 310–323 (2000).
- Duarte, C. M. & Alcaraz, M. To produce many small or few large eggs: a size-independent reproductive tactic of fish. Oecologia 80, 401–404 (1989).
- 7. Chase, J. M. Are there real differences among aquatic and terrestrial food webs? Trends Ecol. Evol. 15, 408-412 (2000).
- 8. Winemiller, K. O. & Rose, K. A. Why do most fish produce so many tiny offspring? Am. Nat. 142, 585-603 (1993).
- Mcbride, R. S. et al. Energy acquisition and allocation to egg production in relation to fish reproductive strategies. Fish Fish. 16, 23–57 (2015).
- Kamler, E. Parent-egg-progeny relationships in teleost fishes: An energetics perspective. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 15, 399–421 (2005).
- 11. Tinbergen, L. The natural control of insects in pinewoods. Arch. Néerlandaises Zool. 13, 265-343 (1960).
- 12. Fox, C. J. et al. Identification of marine fish egg predators using molecular probes. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 462, 205-218 (2012).
- 13. Power, M. E. Top-down and bottom-up forces in food webs: do plants have primacy? Ecology 73, 733-746 (1992).
- 14. Barkai, A. & Mcquaid, C. Predator-prey role reversal in a marine benthic ecosystem. Science 242, 62-64 (1988).
- Plirú, A. et al. Sprat feeding behaviour, selective predation, and impact on plaice egg mortality. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 69, 1019–1029 (2012).
- 16. Levine, D. S. On the stability of a predator-prey system with egg-eating predators. Math. Biosci. 56, 27-46 (1981).
- Leggett, W. C. & Deblois, E. Recruitment in marine fishes: Is it regulated by starvation and predation in the egg and larval stages? Netherlands J. Sea Res. 32, 119–134 (1994).
- Choh, Y., Ignacio, M., Sabelis, M. W. & Janssen, A. Predator-prey role reversals, juvenile experience and adult antipredator behaviour. Sci. Rep. 2, 1–6 (2012).
- Bailey, K. M., Brodeur, R. D., Merati, N. & Yoklavich, M. M. Predation on walleye pollock (*Theragra chalcogramma*) eggs and yolksac larvae by pelagic crustacean invertebrates in the western Gulf of Alaska. Fish. Oceanogr. 2, 30–39 (1993).
- Wizen, G. & Gasith, A. An unprecedented role reversal: Ground beetle larvae (Coleoptera: Carabidae) lure amphibians and prey upon them. PLoS One 6, e25161 (2011).
- Schaeffer, J. S. & Margraf, F. J. Predation on fish eggs by white perch, Morone americana, in western Lake Erie. Environ. Biol. Fishes 18, 77–80 (1987).
- Chotkowski, M. A. & Ellen Marsden, J. Round goby and mottled sculpin predation on lake trout eggs and fry: field predictions from laboratory experiments. J. Great Lakes Res. 25, 26–35 (1999).
- Bailey, K. M. & Houde, E. D. Predation on eggs and larvae of marine fishes and the recruitment problem. Adv. Mar. Biol. 25, 1–83 (1989).
- Deblois, E. M. & Leggett, W. C. Functional response and potential impact of invertebrate predators on benthic fish eggs: analysis of the *Calliopius laeviusculus*-capelin (*Mallotus villosus*) predator-prey system. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 69, 205–216 (1991).
- Specziár, A. & Rezsu, E. T. Feeding guilds and food resource partitioning in a lake fish assemblage: An ontogenetic approach. J. Fish Biol. 75, 247–267 (2009).
- Vašek, M. et al. Development of non-lethal monitoring of stable isotopes in asp (Leuciscus aspius): a comparison of muscle, fin and scale tissues. Hydrobiologia 785, 327–335 (2016).
- 27. Šmejkal, M. et al. Seasonal and daily protandry in a cyprinid fish. Sci. Rep. 7, 4737 (2017).
- Šmejkal, M. et al. Population size, age structure and spawning dynamics of asp (Leuciscus aspius) in Želivka Reservoir (in Czech). (2016).
- Vøllestad, L. A. Resource partitioning of roach Rutilus rutilus and bleak Alburnus alburnus in two eutrophic lakes in SE Norway. Holarct. Ecol. 8, 88–92 (1985).
- Vašek, M. & Kubečka, J. In situ diel patterns of zooplankton consumption by subadult/adult roach Rutilus rutilus, bream Abramis brama, and bleak Alburnus alburnus. Folia Zool. 53, 203–214 (2004).
- Prchalová, M. et al. The effect of depth, distance from dam and habitat on spatial distribution of fish in an artificial reservoir. Ecol. Freshw. Fish 18, 247–260 (2009).
- Krpo-Ćetković, J., Hegediš, A. & Lenhardt, M. Diet and growth of asp. Aspius aspius (Linnaeus, 1758), In the Danube River near the confluence with the Sava River (Serbia). J. Appl. Ichthyol. 26, 513–521 (2010).

- McGurk, M. D. Natural mortality of marine pelagic fish eggs and larvae: role of spatial patchiness. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 34, 227–242 (1986).
- 34. Alheit, J. Egg cannibalism versus egg predation: their significance in anchovies. South African J. Mar. Sci. 5, 467–470 (1987).
- Ellis, T. & Nash, R. D. M. Predation by sprat and herring on pelagic fish eggs in a plaice spawning area in the Irish Sea. J. Fish Biol. 50, 1195–1202 (1997).
- Roseman, E. F., Taylor, W. W., Hayes, D. B., Jones, A. L. & Francis, J. T. Predation on walleye eggs by fish on reefs in western Lake Erie. J. Great Lakes Res. 32, 415–423 (2006).
- Silbernagel, J. J. & Sorensen, P. W. Direct field and laboratory evidence that a combination of egg and larval predation controls recruitment of invasive common carp in many lakes of the upper Mississippi River basin. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 142, 1134–1140 (2013).
- 38. Hamilton, W. D. Geometry for the selfish herd. J. Theor. Biol. 31, 295-311 (1971).
- Turchin, P. & Kareiva, P. Aggregation in Aphis varians: an effective strategy for reducing predation risk. *Ecology* 70, 1008–1016 (1989).
- 40. Ims, R. A. On the adaptive value of reproductive synchrony as a predator-swamping strategy. Am. Nat. 136, 485-498 (1990).
- Targoñska, K., Zarski, D. & Kucharczyk, D. A review of the artificial reproduction of asp, Aspius aspius (L.), and nase, Chondrostoma nasus (L.). Arch. Polish Fish. 16, 341–354 (2008).
- Billard, R., Cosson, J., Perchec, G. & Linhart, O. Biology of sperm and artificial reproduction in carp. Aquaculture 129, 95–112 (1995).
- Andersen, K. H., Jacobsen, N. S., Jansen, T. & Beyer, J. E. When in life does density dependence occur in fish populations? Fish Fish. 0, 00–00 (2016).
- Bajer, P. G., Chizinski, C. J., Silbernagel, J. J. & Sorensen, P. W. Variation in native micro-predator abundance explains recruitment of a mobile invasive fish, the common carp, in a naturally unstable environment. *Biol. Invasions* 14, 1919–1929 (2012).
- Hladík, M. & Kubečka, J. Fish migration between a temperate reservoir and its main tributary. *Hydrobiologia* 504, 251–266 (2003).
 Fuiman, L. A., Connelly, T. L., Lowerre-Barbieri, S. K. & McClelland, J. W. Egg boons: Central components of marine fatty acid food webs. *Ecolor* 96, 362–372 (2015).
- Križek, J. & Vostradovský, J. Population dynamics of the rapacious carp (Aspius aspius L.) in the Želivka Reservoir in 1972–1992. 4th Int. Conf. Reserv. Limnol. water Qual. České Budějovice, Czech Republic, B. Abstr. 180–182 (2002).
- Riha, M. *et al.* Patterns in diel habitat use of fish covering the littoral and pelagic zones in a reservoir. *Hydrobiologia* 747, 111–131 (2015).
- Vašek, M. et al. The use of pelagic habitat by cyprinids in a deep riverine impoundment: Římov Reservoir, Czech Republic. Folia Zool. 57, 324–336 (2008).
- 50. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 2015).
- 51. Esri. Working with ArcMap. ArcGIS Help 10.2.2. http://desktop.arcgis.com/en/arcmap/ (2016).

Acknowledgements

We thank Luboš Kočvara, Tomáš Kolařík, Zdeněk Popelka, Zdeněk Prachař and Vladislav Draštík for their assistance during field work. Special thanks go to Vilém Děd, who was very helpful during data analysis. Further, we thank the river authority Povodí Vltavy for providing water discharge data. This work was supported by the Norwegian Financial Mechanism 2009–2014 under contract number MSMT-28477/2014 (project number 7F14316). Publication was supported by the programme "Diversity of Life and Health of Ecosystems" within the project of the Czech Academy of Sciences "Strategy AV21" (project number 580310/992200), co-financed by the European Social Fund and the state budget of the Czech Republic, by the University of South Bohemia (158/2016/P) and by the Czech Science Foundation (GPP505/12/P647).

Author Contributions

M.Š., L.V., D.B., R.B., P.B. and J.K. participated in the field work. M.Š. and J.K. designed the study. T.M., P.B. and M.P. conducted the statistical analysis. M.Š. wrote the first draft. All authors contributed substantial comments during manuscript preparation.

Additional Information

Competing Interests: The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Publisher's note: Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2017

Curriculum vitae

Marek Šmejkal

Date and place of birth: 9 March 1988, Prague, Czechoslovakia

Address:

Department of Fish and Zooplankton Ecology Biology centre CAS Na Sádkách 7 370 05 České Budějovice Czech Republic

Education:

2007-2010 BSc. study at Charles University, Faculty of Science, Prague

2010-2013 Mgr. study at University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, České Budějovice

2013-2017 Ph.D. study at University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Science, České Budějovice, Ph.D. Thesis: Ecology of top fish predators, European catfish and asp, with consequences to fish communities (supervisor: RNDr. Marie Prchalová, Ph.D.)

Professional qualification:

- 2010 BSc. in Ecology and evolutionary biology, Thesis: The importance of various types of habitats in reservoirs for fish (supervisor: RNDr. Marie Prchalová, Ph.D.)
- 2013 Mgr. in Hydrobiology, Thesis: The importance of various types of littoral habitats for fish in reservoirs (supervisor: RNDr. Marie Prchalová, Ph.D.)
- since 2010 part-time job as a student assistant worker at the Institute of Hydrobiology, Biology Centre of the Czech Academy of Sciences

2013 and 2015 – study visits of Department of Aquatic Ecology, Lund University, Sweden

Scientific projects:

- principal investigator

580310/992200 - Research program Diversity of life and ecosystem health, Strategy AV21, activity – Fish pheromone role in timing and synchronization of reproduction (2017, Czech Academy of Sciences)

- co-investigator

- 158/2016/P Ecological interactions in aquatic and terrestrial habitats: implications for community and ecosystem functioning (2016-2017, Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia)
- 145/2013/P Evaluating the impacts of biotic interactions and abiotic stressors on populations and communities (2013-2015, Grant Agency of the University of South Bohemia)
- 7F14316 Structuring effect of submerged macrophytes on trophic relationships and distribution of fish in deep lakes (2014 2017, Czech-Norwegian Research Programme)
- CZ.1.07/2.3.00/20.0204 Centre for ecological potential of fish communities in reservoirs and lakes (2012-2015, co-financed by the European Social Fund and the state budget of the Czech Republic.)

Reviewer for scientific journals:

Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences

Teaching and supervision experiences:

- Lectures at Faculty of Science University of South Bohemia: Agriculture Zoology, Field Course of Marine Biology, Ecology of aquatic vertebrates
- Supervision of Mgr. thesis at Faculty of Science, Palacký University Olomouc: Production of the PF2α pheromone by females of the asp (*Leuciscus aspius*) and it's specific influence on asp behaviour (Boborová K.).

Society membership:

Czech Limnological Society

Language skills:

Czech (mother tongue), English (fluent, certificate TOEFL ITP), German (passive)

Computer skills:

MS Windows, MS Office, statistical software: R, Canoco, Statistica

Research papers (not included in this Ph.D. thesis):

- Blabolil, P., Boukal, D.S., Ricard, D., Kubečka, J., Říha, M., Vašek, M., Prchalová, M., Čech, M., Frouzová, J., Jůza, T., Muška, M., Tušer, M., Draštík, V., Šmejkal, M., Vejřík, L., Peterka, J. (2017) Optimal gillnet sampling design for the estimation of fish community indicators in heterogeneous freshwater ecosystems. Ecological Indicators 77: 368– 376.
- Jůza, T., Ricard, D., Blabolil, P., Čech, M., Draštík, V., Frouzová, J., Muška, M., Peterka, J., Prchalová, M., Říha, M., Sajdlová, Z., Šmejkal, M., Tušer, M., Vašek, M., Vejřík, L., Kubečka, J. (2015) Species-specific gradients of juvenile fish density and size in pelagic areas of temperate reservoirs. Hydrobiologia. 762: 169–181.
- Šmejkal, M., Prchalová, M., Čech, M., Vašek, M., Říha, M., Jůza, T., Blabolil, P., Kubečka, J., 2014. Associations of fish with various types of littoral habitats in reservoirs. Ecology of Freshwater Fish. 23: 405– 413.
- Vašek, M., Prchalová, M., Říha, M., Blabolil, P., Čech, M., Draštík, V., Frouzová, J., Jůza, T., Kratochvíl, M., Muška, M., Peterka, J., Sajdlová, Z., Šmejkal, M., Tušer, M., Vejřík, L., Znachor, P., Mrkvička, T., Seďa, J., Kubečka, J. (2016) Fish community response to the longitudinal environmental gradient in Czech deep-valley reservoirs: implications for ecological monitoring and management. Ecological indicators 63: 219–230.
- Vejřík L., Matějíčková I., Kočvara L., Sajdlová Z., Chung S.H.T., Šmejkal M., Peterka J., Čech M. (2017) Thirty-year-old paradigm about unpalatable perch egg strands disclaimed by the freshwater toppredator, the European catfish (*Silurus glanis*). PloS ONE 12(1): e0169000.
- Vejříková I., Eloranta A. P., Vejřík L., **Šmejkal M.**, Čech M., Sajdlová Z., Holubová M., Frouzová J., Kiljunen M., Peterka J. (2017) Macrophytes

shape trophic niche variation among generalist fishes. PlosONE 12(5): e0177114.

Vejříková, I., Vejřík, L., Syväranta, J., Kiljunen, M., Čech, M., Blabolil, P., Vašek, M., Sajdlová, Z., Chung, S., Šmejkal, M., Frouzová, J., Peterka, J. (2016) Distribution of Herbivorous Fish Is Frozen by Low Temperature. Scientific Reports 6, 39600.

International conferences:

Šmejkal, M., Ricard, D., Prchalová, M., Muška, M., Čech, M., Vašek, M., Říha, M., Jůza, T., Peterka, J., Kubečka, J., Large mesh gillnets – a complementary tool to standardized multimesh gillnets, 18 – 21 August 2014, Quebec, Canada. © for non-published parts Marek Šmejkal mareks1@centrum.cz

Ecology of top fish predators, European catfish and asp, with consequences to fish communities Ph.D. Thesis Series, 2017, No. 12

All rights reserved For non-commercial use only

Printed in the Czech Republic by Typodesign Edition of 20 copies

University of South Bohemia in České Budějovice Faculty of Science Branišovská 1760 CZ-37005 České Budějovice, Czech Republic

Phone: +420 387 776 201 www.prf.jcu.cz, e-mail: <u>sekret-fpr@prf.jcu.cz</u>